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Independent auditor’s report with respect to the Annual Accounts of the 
Wilfried Martens Centre for European Studies for the year ended 31 
December 2020 

 

In accordance with our service contract dated 5 January 2021 with the European Union 
represented by the European Parliament, we report to you as independent auditor on the 
performance of our audit mandate which was entrusted to Grant Thornton 
Bedrijfsrevisoren CVBA. This report includes our opinion on the balance sheet as at 31 
December 2020, the income statement for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the 
disclosures (all elements together the "Annual Accounts”) using the abbreviated schedule 
and on the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred as well as on compliance 
with rules and regulations applicable to funding of European political parties and European 
political foundations and includes as well our report on regulatory requirements. These two 
reports are considered as one report and are inseparable.  

We have been appointed as independent auditor by the European Parliament in our contract 
dated 5 January 2021. Our mandate expires after the delivery of our audit opinion for the 
year ended 31 December 2021. 

Report on the audit of the Annual Accounts and the Final Statement of 
eligible expenditure actually incurred 

Unqualified opinion 

We have audited the Annual Accounts of Wilfried Martens Centre for European Studies 
(the "Entity"), that comprise the balance sheet on 31 December 2020, as well as the income 
statement of the year and the disclosures, which show a balance sheet total of € 4.467.856,43 
and of which the income statement shows a profit for the year of € 23.528,62.  

In our opinion, the Annual Accounts give a true and fair view of the Entity’s net equity and 
financial position as at 31 December 2020, and of its results for the year then ended, 
prepared in accordance with the financial reporting framework applicable in Belgium, using 
the abbreviated schedule.  

We have also audited the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred for the 
year ended 31 December 2020, in accordance with rules and regulations applicable to 
funding of European political parties and European political foundations, of Wilfried 
Martens Centre for European Studies. 

In our opinion, the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred of the Entity for 
the year ended 31 December 2020 is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with 
rules and regulations applicable to funding of European political parties and European 
political foundations. 
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Basis for the unqualified opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISA”). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Our responsibilities 
for the audit of the Annual Accounts and the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually 
incurred” section of our report.  

We have complied with all ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit, including 
those with respect of independence.  

We have obtained from the Members of the Board and the officials of the Entity the 
explanations and information necessary for the performance of our audit and we believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.  

Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution  

We draw attention to the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred. This 
schedule is prepared to assist the Entity to meet the requirements of the European 
Parliament. As a result, the schedule may not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion 
is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other Matters 

We draw your attention to the developments surrounding the Covid-19 virus that has a 
profound impact on people's health and on society as a whole. This also has an impact on 
the operational and financial performance of organisations and the assessment of the 
Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. The situation gives rise to inherent 
uncertainty. The Entity has not made any disclosure of its assessment of the impact of 
Covid-19 in the Annual Accounts. We have considered the uncertainties related to the 
potential effects of Covid-19 and the assumptions made by the Entity in this respect on its 
operations and financial situation. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.  

On 31 January 2020, the United Kingdom withdrew from the European Union and the 
European Atomic Energy Community (EURATOM). Following intense negotiations, an 
agreement on future EU-UK relations was concluded end of December 2020. The Entity 
has not made any disclosure of its assessment of the impact of Brexit and the 
aforementioned agreement in the Annual Accounts. We have considered the uncertainties 
related to the potential effects of Brexit and the assumptions made by the Entity in this 
respect on its operations and financial situation. Our opinion is not modified in respect of 
this matter.  

Responsibilities of the Members of the Board for the preparation of the Annual 

Accounts and the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred 

The Members of the Board are responsible for the preparation of the Annual Accounts that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with the reporting framework applicable in Belgium 
and the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred. This responsibility 
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includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control which the Members of 
the Board determine to be necessary to enable the preparation of the Annual Accounts and 
the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

The Members of the Board are responsible towards the European Parliament for the use of 
the grant awarded and must comply with the provisions of the Regulation (EU, Euratom) 
No 1141/2014, Regulation (EU, Euratom) 2018/1046 ('the Financial Regulation') and the 
underlying acts.  

As part of the preparation of the Annual Accounts, the Members of the Board are 
responsible for assessing the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern, and provide, if 
applicable, information on matters impacting going concern. The Members of the Board 
should prepare the Annual Accounts using the going concern basis of accounting, unless the 
Members of the Board either intend to liquidate the Entity or to cease business operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Our responsibilities for the audit of the Annual Accounts and the Final Statement of 

eligible expenditure actually incurred 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance whether the Annual Accounts and the 
Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to express an opinion on these Annual Accounts and 
Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred based on our audit. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the ISA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these Annual Accounts and the Final Statement of eligible expenditure 
actually incurred.  

When performing our audit, we comply with the legal, regulatory and normative framework 
that applies to the audit of the financial statements in Belgium. However, a statutory audit 
does not provide assurance as to the future viability of the Entity nor as to the efficiency or 
effectiveness with which the governing body has conducted or will conduct the Entity’s 
business. Our responsibilities regarding the assumption of going concern applied by the 
governing body are described below. 

Furthermore, with respect to the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred, it 
is our responsibility to express an opinion on the compliance with rules and regulations 
applicable to funding of European political parties and European political foundations.  

As part of an audit, in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgment and we 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also perform the following tasks:  

 Identification and assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the Annual 
Accounts and the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred, whether due 
to fraud or error, the planning and execution of audit procedures to respond to these 
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risks and obtain audit evidence which is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting material misstatements is larger when these 
misstatements are due to fraud, since fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

 Obtaining insight in the system of internal controls that are relevant for the audit and 
with the objective to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's 
internal control; 

 Evaluating the selected and applied accounting policies, and evaluating the reasonability 
of the accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Members of the Board 
as well as the underlying information given by the Members of the Board;  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Members of the Board's use of the going 
concern basis of accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to event or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the Annual Accounts or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on audit evidence obtained up to the date of the 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to 
continue as a going-concern; 

 Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the Annual Accounts and 
the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred, and evaluating whether 
these Annual Accounts and the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred 
reflect a true and fair view of the underlying transactions and events. 

We communicate with the Members of the Board regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Report on regulatory requirements 

Responsibilities of the Members of the Board 

The Members of the Board are responsible for the compliance by the Entity with the legal 
and regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium, its articles of association, the legal and 
regulatory requirements regarding bookkeeping and the provisions of the Grant Agreement 
between the European Parliament and the Entity (‘the Funding Agreement’), Regulation 
(EU, Euratom) No. 1141/2014, Regulation (EU, Euratom) 2018/1046 (‘the Financial 
Regulation’) and the underlying acts. 
 

Responsibilities of the auditor 

Our audit work included specific procedures to gather sufficient and appropriate audit 
evidence to verify, in all material respects, that the financial provisions and obligations of the 
grant award agreement, Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 1141/2014, Regulation (EU, 
Euratom) 2018/1046 (‘the Financial Regulation’) and the underlying acts have been met. 
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Independence matters 

We have not performed any other services that are not compatible with the audit of the 
Annual Accounts and the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred and we 
have remained independent of the Entity during the course of our mandate.  
 
Other communications 

 Without prejudice to certain formal aspects of minor importance, the accounting records 
were maintained in accordance with the legal and regulatory requirements applicable in 
Belgium; 

 The costs declared were actually incurred; 
 The statement of revenue is exhaustive;  
 The financial documents submitted by the entity to the European Parliament are 

consistent with the financial provisions of the Funding Agreement;  
 The obligations arising from Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 1141/2014, in particular 

from Article 20 thereof, have been met;  
 The obligations arising from the Funding Agreement, in particular from Article II.9 and 

Article II.19 thereof, have been met;  
 Any surplus of Union funding is carried over to the next financial year and has been used 

in the first quarter of that financial year, pursuant to Article 222(7) of the Financial 
Regulation; 

 Any surplus of own resources was transferred to the reserve;  
 We were not yet provided with the financial statements prepared in accordance with the 

international accounting standards defined in article 2 of regulation (EC) No 1606/2002. 
The financial statements prepared in accordance with the international accounting 
standards will be subject to a separate audit opinion. 

Vilvoorde, 13 May 2021 

Grant Thornton Bedrijfsrevisoren SCRL 

Represented by 

 

 

Gunther Loits 
Registered auditor



 
Grant Thornton Bedrijfsrevisoren SCRL 
VAT BE 0439 814 826. RPM Anvers, division Antwerp 
Member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL) 

 

 7 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Annex 1: Annual accounts 

  



201   1  
NAT. Date du dépôt N° P. U. D. A-asbl 1

COMPTES ANNUELS ET AUTRES DOCUMENTS À  
DÉPOSER EN VERTU DU CODE DES SOCIÉTÉS  

ET DES ASSOCIATIONS 

DONNÉES D’IDENTIFICATION (à la date du dépôt) 

DÉNOMINATION:  ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 

 ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 

Forme juridique:  ..........................................................................................................................................................................................  

Adresse :  ...........................................................................................................................................  N° : ................  Boîte :  ..................... 

Code postal: ......................................  Commune:  ....................................................................................................................................... 

Pays:  ........................................................................................................................................................................................................... 

Registre des personnes morales (RPM) - Tribunal de l'entreprise de .......................................................................................................... 

Adresse Internet1: ........................................................................................................................................................................................  

Numéro d'entreprise  

DATE  / / de dépôt du document le plus récent mentionnant la date de publication des actes constitutif 

et modificatif(s) des statuts. 

COMPTES ANNUELS 

approuvés par l’assemblée générale2 du  / / 

et relatifs à l’exercice couvrant la période du  / / au  / / 

Exercice précédent du  / / au  / / 

Les montants relatifs à l’exercice précédent sont / ne sont pas3 identiques à ceux publiés antérieurement 

Nombre total de pages déposées:  ...................................  Numéros des sections du document normalisé non déposées parce que sans 

objet: ............................................................................................................................................................................................................ 

1  Mention facultative.
2  Par le conseil d'administration dans le cas d'une fondation / par l’organe général de direction dans le cas d'une association internationale sans but

lucratif. 
3  Biffer la mention inutile. 

Rue du Commerce 10

1000 Bruxelles

Belgique

Bruxelles, francophone

BE 0892.052.283

03 12 2018

11 05 2021

01 01 2020 31 12 2020

01 01 2019 31 12 2019

           XXXXXXXXX

15

6.1.3, 6.3, 6.5, 6.6, 8

EUR

COMPTES ANNUELS EN EUROS (2 décimales)

Wilfried Martens Centre for European Studies

Fondation politique Européenne

OCR9002

Mikuláš Dzurinda
President

Antonio López-Istúriz
Secretary-Treasurer



 

N° A-asbl 2.1

LISTE DES ADMINISTRATEURS ET COMMISSAIRES ET 
DÉCLARATION CONCERNANT UNE MISSION DE VÉRIFICATION 

OU DE REDRESSEMENT COMPLÉMENTAIRE 

LISTE DES ADMINISTRATEURS ET COMMISSAIRES  

LISTE COMPLÈTE des nom, prénoms, profession, domicile (adresse, numéro, code postal et commune) et fonction au sein de 
l'association ou de la fondation 

BE 0892.052.283

Antonio López-Istúriz
. ., Madrid, Espagne

Administrateur
02/07/2020 - 02/07/2023

Administrateur
02/07/2020 - 02/07/2023

Président du Conseil d'Administration
02/07/2020 - 02/07/2023

Administrateur
02/07/2020 - 02/07/2023

Administrateur
02/07/2020 - 02/07/2023

Administrateur
02/07/2020 - 02/07/2023

Administrateur
02/07/2020 - 02/07/2023

Joseph Daul
. ., 67370 Pfettisheim, France

Mikuláš Dzurinda
. ., 81103 Bratislava, Slovaquie

Roberta Metsola
. ., SWI Swiequi, Malte

Hans-Gert Pöttering
. ., 49186 Bad Iburg, Allemagne

Angelino Alfano
. ., 92100 Agrigento, Italie

Peter Egardt
. ., 131 42 Nacka, Suède

Arjen Siegmann
. ., 1185 DE Alsetelveen, Pays-Bas

Administrateur
02/07/2020 - 02/07/2023
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N°   A-asbl 2.2 
 

MISSION DE VÉRIFICATION OU DE REDRESSEMENT  
 
Mentions facultatives: 

- dans le cas où des comptes annuels ont été vérifiés ou redressés par un expert-comptable externe ou par un réviseur 
d’entreprises qui n’est pas le commissaire, peuvent être mentionnés ci-après: les nom, prénoms, profession et domicile de chaque 
expert-comptable externe ou réviseur d’entreprises et son numéro de membre auprès de son Institut ainsi que la nature de sa 
mission: 

A. La tenue des comptes de l'association ou de la fondation,  
B. L’établissement des comptes annuels, 
C. La vérification des comptes annuels et/ou  
D. Le redressement des comptes annuels. 

 
- si des missions visées sous A. ou sous B. ont été accomplies par des comptables agréés ou par des comptables-fiscalistes 

agréés, peuvent être mentionnés ci-après: les nom, prénoms, profession et domicile de chaque comptable agréé ou 
comptable-fiscaliste agréé et son numéro de membre auprès de l'Institut Professionnel des Comptables et Fiscalistes agréés 
ainsi que la nature de sa mission. 

 

Nom, prénoms, profession, domicile Numéro de membre 
Nature de la mission 

(A, B, C et/ou D) 
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COMPTES ANNUELS

BILAN APRÈS RÉPARTITION

Ann. Codes Exercice Exercice précédent

ACTIF

FRAIS D'ÉTABLISSEMENT .......................................................... 20 ............................. .............................

ACTIFS IMMOBILISÉS ................................................................. 21/28 65.026,89 65.714,48

Immobilisations incorporelles ................................................ 6.1.1 21 13.855,80 2.293,95

Immobilisations corporelles .................................................... 6.1.2 22/27 51.171,09 63.420,53

Terrains et constructions ....................................................... 22 ............................. .............................

Installations, machines et outillage ........................................ 23 22.364,55 25.769,07

Mobilier et matériel roulant .................................................... 24 13.967,90 19.247,79

Location-financement et droits similaires .............................. 25 ............................. .............................

Autres immobilisations corporelles ........................................ 26 14.838,64 18.403,67

Immobilisations en cours et acomptes versés ....................... 27 ............................. .............................

Immobilisations financières .................................................... 6.1.3 28 ............................. .............................

ACTIFS CIRCULANTS .................................................................. 29/58 4.402.829,54 3.181.634,75

Créances à plus d'un an .......................................................... 29 ............................. .............................

Créances commerciales ........................................................ 290 ............................. .............................

Autres créances ..................................................................... 291 ............................. .............................

Stocks et commandes en cours d'exécution ......................... 3 ............................. .............................

Stocks .................................................................................... 30/36 ............................. .............................

Commandes en cours d'exécution ........................................ 37 ............................. .............................

Créances à un an au plus ........................................................ 40/41 288.936,10 708.341,54

Créances commerciales ........................................................ 40 288.936,10 708.341,54

Autres créances ..................................................................... 41 ............................. .............................

Placements de trésorerie ......................................................... 50/53 ............................. .............................

Valeurs disponibles ................................................................. 54/58 4.005.873,33 2.446.640,42

Comptes de régularisation ...................................................... 490/1 108.020,11 26.652,79

TOTAL DE L'ACTIF ................................................................... 20/58 4.467.856,43 3.247.349,23

N° A-asbl 3.1BE 0892.052.283
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Ann. Codes Exercice Exercice précédent

PASSIF

FONDS SOCIAL ........................................................................... 10/15 758.251,42 734.722,80

Fonds de l'association ou de la fondation ............................. 6.2 10 ............................. .............................

Plus-values de réévaluation .................................................... 12 ............................. .............................

Fonds affectés et autres réserves .......................................... 6.3 13 758.251,42 734.722,80

Bénéfice (Perte) reporté(e) ............................................(+)/(-) 14 ............................. .............................

Subsides en capital .................................................................. 15 ............................. .............................

PROVISIONS ET IMPÔTS DIFFÉRÉS ............................................ 6.2 16 ............................. .............................

Provisions pour risques et charges ....................................... 160/5 ............................. .............................

Pensions et obligations similaires .......................................... 160 ............................. .............................

Charges fiscales .................................................................... 161 ............................. .............................

Grosses réparations et gros entretien ................................... 162 ............................. .............................

Obligations environnementales ............................................. 163 ............................. .............................

Autres risques et charges ...................................................... 164/5 ............................. .............................

Provisions pour subsides et legs à rembourser et pour
dons avec droit de reprise ....................................................... 167 ............................. .............................

Impôts différés .......................................................................... 168 ............................. .............................

DETTES ...................................................................................... 17/49 3.709.605,01 2.512.626,43

Dettes à plus d'un an ............................................................... 6.3 17 ............................. .............................

Dettes financières .................................................................. 170/4 ............................. .............................
Etablissements de crédit, dettes de location-financement
et dettes assimilées .......................................................... 172/3 ............................. .............................

Autres emprunts ............................................................... 174/0 ............................. .............................

Dettes commerciales ............................................................. 175 ............................. .............................

Acomptes sur commandes .................................................... 176 ............................. .............................

Autres dettes ......................................................................... 178/9 ............................. .............................

Dettes à un an au plus ............................................................. 6.3 42/48 2.409.149,59 974.387,15

Dettes à plus d'un an échéant dans l'année .......................... 42 ............................. .............................

Dettes financières .................................................................. 43 ............................. .............................

Etablissements de crédit ................................................... 430/8 ............................. .............................

Autres emprunts ............................................................... 439 ............................. .............................

Dettes commerciales ............................................................. 44 200.450,60 418.689,48

Fournisseurs ..................................................................... 440/4 200.450,60 418.689,48

Effets à payer .................................................................... 441 ............................. .............................

Acomptes sur commandes .................................................... 46 ............................. .............................

Dettes fiscales, salariales et sociales .................................... 45 322.359,08 289.115,52

Impôts ............................................................................... 450/3 55.120,91 49.201,81

Rémunérations et charges sociales .................................. 454/9 267.238,17 239.913,71

Autres dettes ......................................................................... 48 1.886.339,91 266.582,15

Comptes de régularisation ...................................................... 492/3 1.300.455,42 1.538.239,28

TOTAL DU PASSIF ................................................................... 10/49 4.467.856,43 3.247.349,23

N° A-asbl 3.2BE 0892.052.283
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COMPTE DE RÉSULTATS

Ann. Codes Exercice Exercice précédent

Produits et charges d'exploitation
Marge brute .................................................................(+)/(-) 9900 2.380.257,78 2.399.471,09

Produits d'exploitation non récurrents ............................... 76A ............................. .............................

Chiffre d'affaires* .............................................................. 70 296.701,94 622.669,30

Cotisations, dons, legs et subsides* ................................. 73 4.185.506,10 5.006.030,26
Approvisionnements, marchandises, services et biens
divers* ............................................................................... 60/61 2.115.033,47 3.241.738,23

Rémunérations, charges sociales et pensions ............(+)/(-) 62 2.304.288,32 2.085.121,45
Amortissements et réductions de valeur sur frais
d'établissement, sur immobilisations incorporelles et
corporelles ............................................................................. 630 26.061,99 22.521,54
Réductions de valeur sur stocks, sur commandes en cours
d'exécution et sur créances commerciales: dotations
(reprises) .....................................................................(+)/(-) 631/4 ............................. .............................
Provisions pour risques et charges: dotations (utilisations et
reprises) .......................................................................(+)/(-) 635/9 ............................. .............................

Autres charges d'exploitation ................................................. 640/8 14.551,24 16.750,61
Charges d'exploitation portées à l'actif au titre de frais de
restructuration ...................................................................(-) 649 ............................. .............................

Charges d'exploitation non récurrentes ................................. 66A ............................. .............................

Bénéfice (Perte) d'exploitation ......................................(+)/(-) 9901 35.356,23 275.077,49

Produits financiers ................................................................... 6.4 75/76B 113,14 38,71

Produits financiers récurrents ................................................ 75 113,14 38,71

Produits financiers non récurrents ......................................... 76B ............................. .............................

Charges financières ................................................................. 6.4 65/66B 11.940,75 19.945,73

Charges financières récurrentes ........................................... 65 11.940,75 19.945,73

Charges financières non récurrentes .................................... 66B ............................. .............................

Bénéfice (Perte) de l'exercice avant impôts ................(+)/(-) 9903 23.528,62 255.170,47

Prélèvement sur les impôts différés ....................................... 780 ............................. .............................

Transfert aux impôts différés .................................................. 680 ............................. .............................

Impôts sur le résultat .....................................................(+)/(-) 67/77 ............................. .............................

Bénéfice (Perte) de l'exercice .......................................(+)/(-) 9904 23.528,62 255.170,47

Prélèvement sur les réserves immunisées ............................ 789 ............................. .............................

Transfert aux réserves immunisées ....................................... 689 ............................. .............................

Bénéfice (Perte) de l'exercice à affecter ......................(+)/(-) 9905 23.528,62 255.170,47

* Mention facultative.

N° A-asbl 4BE 0892.052.283
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AFFECTATIONS ET PRÉLÈVEMENTS

Codes Exercice Exercice précédent

Bénéfice (Perte) à affecter ......................................................(+)/(-) 9906 23.528,62 255.170,47

Bénéfice (Perte) de l'exercice à affecter ...............................(+)/(-) (9905) 23.528,62 255.170,47

Bénéfice (Perte) reporté(e) de l'exercice précédent .............(+)/(-) 14P ............................. .............................

Prélèvement sur les capitaux propres: fonds, fonds affectés et
autres réserves .................................................................................. 791 ............................. .............................

Affectation aux fonds affectés et autres réserves ......................... 691 23.528,62 255.170,47

Bénéfice (Perte) à reporter .....................................................(+)/(-) (14) ............................. .............................

N° A-asbl 5BE 0892.052.283
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ANNEXE

ETAT DES IMMOBILISATIONS

Codes Exercice Exercice précédent

IMMOBILISATIONS INCORPORELLES

Valeur d'acquisition au terme de l'exercice .................................................... 8059P xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 44.505,40

Mutations de l'exercice
Acquisitions, y compris la production immobilisée .......................................... 8029 16.177,70

Cessions et désaffectations ............................................................................ 8039 ........................

Transferts d'une rubrique à une autre ..................................................(+)/(-) 8049 ........................

Valeur d'acquisition au terme de l'exercice .................................................... 8059 60.683,10

Amortissements et réductions de valeur au terme de l'exercice .................. 8129P xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 42.211,45

Mutations de l'exercice
Actés ............................................................................................................... 8079 4.615,85

Repris ............................................................................................................. 8089 ........................

Acquis de tiers ................................................................................................ 8099 ........................

Annulés à la suite de cessions et désaffectations .......................................... 8109 ........................

Transférés d'une rubrique à une autre .................................................(+)/(-) 8119 ........................

Amortissements et réductions de valeur au terme de l'exercice .................. 8129 46.827,30

VALEUR COMPTABLE NETTE AU TERME DE L'EXERCICE .................................... (21) 13.855,80
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Codes Exercice Exercice précédent

IMMOBILISATIONS CORPORELLES

Valeur d'acquisition au terme de l'exercice .................................................... 8199P xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 366.426,73

Mutations de l'exercice
Acquisitions, y compris la production immobilisée .......................................... 8169 9.196,70

Cessions et désaffectations ............................................................................ 8179 ........................

Transferts d'une rubrique à une autre ..................................................(+)/(-) 8189 ........................

Valeur d'acquisition au terme de l'exercice .................................................... 8199 375.623,43

Plus-values au terme de l'exercice .................................................................. 8259P xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx ........................

Mutations de l'exercice
Actées ............................................................................................................. 8219 ........................

Acquises de tiers ............................................................................................ 8229 ........................

Annulées ......................................................................................................... 8239 ........................

Transférées d'une rubrique à une autre ...............................................(+)/(-) 8249 ........................

Plus-values au terme de l'exercice .................................................................. 8259 ........................

Amortissements et réductions de valeur au terme de l'exercice .................. 8329P xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 303.006,20

Mutations de l'exercice
Actés ............................................................................................................... 8279 21.446,14

Repris ............................................................................................................. 8289 ........................

Acquis de tiers ................................................................................................ 8299 ........................

Annulés à la suite de cessions et désaffectations .......................................... 8309 ........................

Transférés d'une rubrique à une autre .................................................(+)/(-) 8319 ........................

Amortissements et réductions de valeur au terme de l'exercice .................. 8329 324.452,34

VALEUR COMPTABLE NETTE AU TERME DE L'EXERCICE .................................... (22/27) 51.171,09

DONT

Appartenant à l'association ou à la fondation en pleine propriété ............... 8349 51.171,09
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ETAT DES FONDS, FONDS AFFECTÉS ET PROVISIONS

Codes Exercice Exercice précédent

FONDS

Patrimoine de départ ...................................................................................... ............................. .............................

Moyens permanents ....................................................................................... ............................. .............................

Exercice

Modifications au cours de l'exercice

........................................................................................................................................................................ ........................

........................................................................................................................................................................ ........................

........................................................................................................................................................................ ........................

........................................................................................................................................................................ ........................

FONDS AFFECTÉS

Règles d'évaluation adoptées pour la détermination des montants affectés (rubrique 13 du passif)

Cette catégorie concerne des fonds affectés pour financer des futurs événements dans le cadre des activités du WMCES

Exercice

PROVISIONS

Ventilation de la rubrique 167 du passif (Provisions pour subsides et legs à rembourser et pour dons
avec droit de reprise) si celle-ci représente un montant important

............................................................................................................................................................................. ........................

............................................................................................................................................................................. ........................

............................................................................................................................................................................. ........................
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RÉSULTATS

Codes Exercice Exercice précédent

PERSONNEL

Travailleurs pour lesquels l'association ou la fondation a introduit une
déclaration DIMONA ou qui sont inscrits au registre général du
personnel

Effectif moyen du personnel calculé en équivalents temps plein ................. 9087 28,0 24,3

PRODUITS ET CHARGES DE TAILLE OU D'INCIDENCE EXCEPTIONNELLE

Produits non récurrents .................................................................................. 76 ........................ ........................

Produits d'exploitation non récurrents ........................................................... (76A) ........................ ........................

Produits financiers non récurrents ................................................................ (76B) ........................ ........................

Charges non récurrentes ................................................................................ 66 ........................ ........................

Charges d'exploitation non récurrentes ........................................................ (66A) ........................ ........................

Charges financières non récurrentes ............................................................ (66B) ........................ ........................

RÉSULTATS FINANCIERS

Intérêts portés à l'actif ................................................................................... 6502 ........................ ........................
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BILAN SOCIAL

Numéros des commissions paritaires dont dépend l'association ou la fondation: 337 .......... .......... .......... ..........

TRAVAILLEURS POUR LESQUELS L'ASSOCIATION OU LA FONDATION A INTRODUIT UNE DÉCLARATION
DIMONA OU QUI SONT INSCRITS AU REGISTRE GÉNÉRAL DU PERSONNEL

Au cours de l'exercice et de l'exercice
précédent

Codes

1. Temps plein 2. Temps partiel 3. Total (T) ou
total en
équivalents
temps plein
(ETP)

3P. Total (T) ou
total en
équivalents
temps plein
(ETP)

(exercice) (exercice) (exercice) (exercice précédent)

Nombre moyen de travailleurs .................... 100 25,5 ........................ 25,5 (ETP) 24,3 (ETP)

Nombre d'heures effectivement prestées ... 101 42.170 ........................ 42.170 (T) 39.303 (T)

Frais de personnel ...................................... 102 2.304.288,32 ........................ 2.304.288,32 (T) 2.085.121,45 (T)

A la date de clôture de l'exercice
Codes

1. Temps plein 2. Temps partiel 3. Total en
équivalents
temps plein

Nombre de travailleurs .............................................................. 105 28 ........................ 28,0

Par type de contrat de travail
Contrat à durée indéterminée .................................................. 110 28 ........................ 28,0

Contrat à durée déterminée ..................................................... 111 ........................ ........................ ........................

Contrat pour l'exécution d'un travail nettement défini .............. 112 ........................ ........................ ........................

Contrat de remplacement ........................................................ 113 ........................ ........................ ........................

Par sexe et niveau d'études
Hommes .................................................................................. 120 17 ........................ 17,0

de niveau primaire .............................................................. 1200 ........................ ........................ ........................

de niveau secondaire .......................................................... 1201 ........................ ........................ ........................

de niveau supérieur non universitaire ................................. 1202 17 ........................ 17,0

de niveau universitaire ........................................................ 1203 ........................ ........................ ........................

Femmes ................................................................................... 121 11 ........................ 11,0

de niveau primaire .............................................................. 1210 ........................ ........................ ........................

de niveau secondaire .......................................................... 1211 ........................ ........................ ........................

de niveau supérieur non universitaire ................................. 1212 11 ........................ 11,0

de niveau universitaire ........................................................ 1213 ........................ ........................ ........................

Par catégorie professionnelle
Personnel de direction ............................................................. 130 ........................ ........................ ........................

Employés ................................................................................. 134 28 ........................ 28,0

Ouvriers ................................................................................... 132 ........................ ........................ ........................

Autres ...................................................................................... 133 ........................ ........................ ........................
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TABLEAU DES MOUVEMENTS DU PERSONNEL AU COURS DE L'EXERCICE

ENTRÉES
Codes

1. Temps plein 2. Temps partiel 3. Total en
équivalents
temps plein

Nombre de travailleurs pour lesquels l'association ou la fondation
a introduit une déclaration DIMONA ou qui ont été inscrits au
registre général du personnel au cours de l'exercice ................... 205 15 ........................ 15,0

SORTIES

Nombre de travailleurs dont la date de fin de contrat a été
inscrite dans une déclaration DIMONA ou au registre général du
personnel au cours de l'exercice .................................................. 305 11 ........................ 11,0

RENSEIGNEMENTS SUR LES FORMATIONS POUR LES TRAVAILLEURS AU COURS DE L'EXERCICE

Initiatives en matière de formation professionnelle continue à caractère
formel à charge de l'employeur

Codes Hommes Codes Femmes

Nombre de travailleurs concernés ................................................................ 5801 ........................ 5811 ........................

Nombre d'heures de formation suivies .......................................................... 5802 ........................ 5812 ........................

Coût net pour l'association ou la fondation ................................................... 5803 ........................ 5813 ........................

dont coût brut directement lié aux formations .......................................... 58031 ........................ 58131 ........................

dont cotisations payées et versements à des fonds collectifs .................. 58032 ........................ 58132 ........................

dont subventions et autres avantages financiers reçus (à déduire) ......... 58033 ........................ 58133 ........................

Initiatives en matière de formation professionnelle continue à caractère
moins formel ou informel à charge de l'employeur

Nombre de travailleurs concernés ................................................................ 5821 ........................ 5831 ........................

Nombre d'heures de formation suivies .......................................................... 5822 ........................ 5832 ........................

Coût net pour l'association ou la fondation ................................................... 5823 ........................ 5833 ........................

Initiatives en matière de formation professionnelle initiale à charge de
l'employeur

Nombre de travailleurs concernés ................................................................ 5841 8 5851 5

Nombre d'heures de formation suivies .......................................................... 5842 4.176 5852 3.328

Coût net pour l'association ou la fondation ................................................... 5843 35.032,98 5853 30.892,89
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RÈGLES D'ÉVALUATION

RESUME DES REGLES D'EVALUATION

I. PRINCIPES GENERAUX

Les règles d'évaluation sont établies conformément à l'arrêté royal du 30 janvier 2001 portant

exécution du Code des sociétés.

Les régles d'évaluation sont déterminées selon les dispositions imposées par le Parlement Européen.

II. REGLES PARTICULIERES

IMMOBILISATIONS CORPORELLES

Des immobilisations corporelles n'ont pas été réévaluées durant l'exercice.

AMORTISSEMENTS ACTES PENDANT L'EXERCICE

=============================================================================================

                                            |         |       |           Taux en %

                                            |         |       |               |     Frais

                                            |         |       |   Principal   |  accessoires

       A C T I F S                          | Méthode | Base  | Min.  -  Max. | Min.  -  Max.

=============================================================================================

1. Installations, machines et outillage (*) |     L   |  NG   | 12,5% - 25%   |

                                            |         |       |               |

                                            |         |       |               |

                                            |         |       |               |

2. Autres immobilisations corporelles       |     L   |  NG   | 12,5% - 25%   |

                                            |         |       |               |

                                            |         |       |               |

                                            |         |       |               |

=============================================================================================

   Méhode: L (linéaire) / D (dégressive) / A (autres)

   Basis: NG (non réévaluée) / R (réévaluée)

=============================================================================================

(*) Y compris les actifs détenus en location-financement; ceux-ci font, le cas échéant, l'objet

d'une ligne distincte.

DETTES

Le passif ne comporte pas de dettes à long terme, non productives d'intérêt ou assorties d'un taux

d'intérêt anormalement faible.

DEVISES

Les avoirs, dettes et engagements libellés en devises sont convertis en EUR sur les bases suivantes

: le cours du change au 31/12/2020.

Les écarts de conversion des devises sont traités comme suit dans les comptes annuels : les écarts

de conversion positifs et négatifs sont enregistrés respectivement sous les codes 75 et 65 du

compte de résultats.
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AUTRES DOCUMENTS À DÉPOSER EN
VERTU DU CODE DES SOCIÉTÉS ET
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Annex 2: Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually 
incurred 

 



WILFRIED MARTENS CENTRE FOR EUROPEAN STUDIES

FINAL BUDGET 2020

Eligible costs Budget Actual Budget Actual

A.1: Personnel costs 2.800.058,00 2.657.437,10
D.1. Dissolution of "Provision to cover eligible

costs of the first quarter of year N"
n/a 1.538.239,28

1. Salaries 1.848.016,00 1.781.631,20
D.2. European Parliament funding awarded for

year N
6.497.368,00 3.947.722,24

2. Contributions 583.584,00 487.033,98 D.3.  Member contributions 600.000,00 171.960,59

3. Professional training 57.000,00 41.357,70 3.1 from member organisations 171.960,59

4. Staff missions expenses 87.000,00 6.747,53 3.2 from individual members

5. Other personnel costs 224.458,00 340.666,69 D.4 Donations 50.000,00 84.934,27

A.2: Infrastructure and operating costs 741.728,00 545.219,83 4.1 Sponsorships 50.000,00 64.640,00

1. Rent, charges and maintenance costs 449.172,00 352.117,00 4.2 Contributions Partners / Partner members 20.294,27

2. Costs relating to installation, operation and

maintenance of equipment
115.756,00 81.830,98 D.5 Other own resources  14.000,00 39.397,45

3. Depreciation of movable and immovable property 55.000,00 27.872,89 Other own resources 14.000,00 39.397,45

4. Stationery and office supplies 17.300,00 24.031,73

5. Postal and telecommunications charges 60.400,00 37.160,81

6. Printing, translation and reproduction costs 24.100,00 10.174,50

7. Other infrastructure costs 20.000,00 12.031,92

A.3: Administrative costs 881.059,00 402.496,12

1. Documentation costs (newspapers, press agencies, 

databases)
20.050,00 9.494,12

2. Costs of studies and research 757.449,00 295.617,37

3. Legal costs 44.500,00 9.656,28

4. Accounting and audit costs 32.900,00 76.871,56

5. Miscellaneous administrative costs 26.160,00 10.856,79

6. Support to third parties ‐

A.4: Meetings and representation costs 126.900,00 13.436,99

1. Costs of meetings 84.000,00 6.320,48

2. Participation in seminars and conferences 5.400,00 0,00

3. Representation costs 36.000,00 7.116,51

4. Costs of invitations 0,00

5. Other meeting‐related costs 1.500,00

A.5: Information and publication costs 2.597.623,00 774.690,92

1. Publication costs 304.800,00 132.234,33

2. Creation and operation of Internet sites 40.840,00 24.480,04

3. Publicity costs 127.000,00 118.610,81

4. Communications equipment (gadgets) 9.600,00 9.589,25

5. Seminar and exhibitions 2.109.383,00 489.776,49

6. Other information‐related costs 6.000,00

A.6. Allocation to "Provision to cover eligible costs of

the first quarter of year N+1"
1.300.455,42

A. TOTAL ELIGIBLE COSTS 7.147.368,00 5.693.736,38 D.6. Interest from pre‐financing

Ineligible costs D.7. Contributions in kind

1. Allocation to other provisions D. TOTAL REVENUE 7.161.368,00 5.782.253,83

2. Financial charges 14.000,00 E. profit/loss (D‐C) 0,00 23.528,62

3. Exchange losses

4. Doubtful claims on third parties

5. Others (to be specified) 64.988,83

6. Contributions in kind
F. Allocation of own resources to the reserve 

account
23.528,62

B. TOTAL INELIGIBLE COSTS 14.000,00 64.988,83
G. Profit/loss for verifying compliance with the

no‐profit rule (E‐F)
0,00 0,00

C. TOTAL COSTS 7.161.368,00 5.758.725,21

 Annex b) to call for proposals

Costs Revenue

Mikuláš Dzurinda
President

Antonio López-Istúriz 
Secretary-Treasurer
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Independent auditor’s report on the Financial Statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards of Wilfried Martens Centre 
for European Studies for the year ended 31 December 2020 

Unqualified opinion 

We have audited the Financial Statements of Wilfried Martens Centre for European Studies 
(the "Entity"), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, 
as well as the statement of profit or loss and the statement of comprehensive income for the 
year then ended, the statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the Financial Statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Entity as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and 
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).  

Basis for unqualified opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
Financial Statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Other Matters - Auditor's Opinion on the Annual Accounts and the Final Statement of 

eligible expenditure actually incurred 

We have also audited the Annual Accounts of the Entity prepared in accordance with the 
financial reporting framework applicable in Belgium and the Final Statement of eligible 
expenditure actually incurred, prepared in accordance with rules and regulations applicable 
to funding of political parties and political foundations at European level. In this regard, we 
have issued our audit report dated May 13, 2021. 

Other Matters 

We draw your attention to the developments surrounding the Covid-19 virus that has a 
profound impact on people's health and on society as a whole. This also has an impact on 
the operational and financial performance of organisations and the assessment of the 
Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. The situation gives rise to inherent 
uncertainty. We have considered the uncertainties related to the potential effects of Covid-
19 and the assumptions made by the Entity in this respect on its operations and financial 
situation. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.  



 
Grant Thornton Bedrijfsrevisoren SCRL 
VAT BE 0439 814 826. RPM Anvers, division Antwerp 
Member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL) 

 

 3 

 
 

 

On 31 January 2020, the United Kingdom withdrew from the European Union and the 
European Atomic Energy Community (EURATOM). Following intense negotiations, an 
agreement on future EU-UK relations was concluded end of December 2020. We have 
considered the uncertainties related to the potential effects of Brexit and the assumptions 
made by the Entity in this respect on its operations and financial situation. Our opinion is 
not modified in respect of this matter. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the preparation of the Financial 

Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as the Board of 
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of Financial Statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

Pursuant to paragraph 1 of Article 23 of Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 1141/2014, the 
Entity is required to maintain and report on their Financial Statements on the basis of 
international accounting standards as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EC) No 
1606/2002.  

In preparing the Financial Statements, the Board of Directors are responsible for assessing 
the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend 
to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISA will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Financial Statements.  

The audit has been performed following our appointment by the European Parliament, 
which seeks to obtain assurance relating to the Entity's adherence to its obligations under 
Article 23 of Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 1141/2004. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Financial Statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
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our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the 
Financial Statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue 
as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Financial Statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the Financial Statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors or their delegates regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Restriction on use and distribution  
 
The opinion transmitted is only intended for the Entity and for the European Parliament. It 
may not be distributed or made available to any other parties, except those who have 
regulatory rights of access to it. Any review, transmission, dissemination or other use of, or 
taking of any action in reliance upon this information by any persons or entities other than 
the Entity or the European Parliament is prohibited and we will not assume any duty of care 
or liability towards these persons or entities. 
 
 

Vilvoorde, December 2, 2021 

Grant Thornton Bedrijfsrevisoren SCRL 

Represented by 

 

 

Gunther Loits 
Registered auditor 
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Statement of financial position at 31 December 2020  
 

EUR Notes 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
ASSETS    

    
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment 8 1.220.567,94 1.424.160,96 
Intangible assets  0,00 0,00 
Trade and other receivables  0,00 0,00 

Non-current financial assets  0,00 0,00 

Total non-current assets   1.220.567,94 1.424.160,96 

      
Current assets      
Inventories  0,00 0,00 
Trade and other receivables 12 353.429,54 780.909,03 
Cash and cash equivalents 13 4.005.873,33 2.446.640,42 

Total current assets   4.359.302,87 3.227.549,45 

      
Total assets   5.579.870,82 4.651.710,41 

      
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES      

      
Initial funds  0,00 0,00 
Reserves  -40.193,82 -40.193,82 
Retained earnings  631.203,10 688.534,95 

Total equity   591.009,28 648.341,13 

      
Non-current liabilities      
Borrowings  0,00 0,00 
Provision for other liabilities and charges (NCL) 0,00 0,00 
Net employee defined benefit 
liabilities 14 95.276,00 61.179,00 
Leasing liabilities 9 940.535,32 1.135.940,23 
Trade and other payables  0,00 0,00 

Total non-current liabilities   1.035.811,32 1.197.119,23 

      
Current liabilities      
Trade and other payables 15 3.709.605,01 2.562.070,74 
Leasing liabilities 9 243.445,21 244.179,31 
Borrowings  0,00 0,00 

Total current liabilities   3.953.050,22 2.806.250,05 
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Total liabilities   4.988.861,54 4.003.369,28 

      
Total equity and liabilities   5.579.870,82 4.651.710,41 

      
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 
EUR Notes 2020 2019 

Revenue from contracts with customers 0,00 0,00 
Other income 4 4.482.208,04 5.006.030,26 

Revenue   4.482.208,04 5.006.030,26 

General and administrative expenses 5 -4.491.364,21 -4.741.236,52 
Other operating income/(expenses) 5 -2.393,28 -4.401,98 

Operating profit/(loss)   -11.549,45 260.391,76 

Finance income 6 6.990,14 10.153,71 
Finance costs 6 -28.178,54 -48.187,63 

Profit/(loss) for the year   -32.737.85 222.357,83 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2020 
EUR   Notes 2.020,00 2.019,00 

Profit/(loss) for the year    -32.737,85 222.357,83 

     
Other comprehensive income     

Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified 
to profit or loss in subsequent periods 

   

Other comprehensive income that will not be 
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 

   
Remeasurement gain/loss on 
defined benefit plans   -24.594,00 -36.246,00 

Total comprehensive income for 
the year, net of tax 

  
  -57.331,85 186.111,83 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2020  
EUR Initial funds Reserves Retained earnings Total equity 

Balance at 1 January 2019 0,00 -40.193,82 502.423,12 462.229,30 

OCI   -36.246,00 -36.246,00 
Profit/(loss) for the year   222.357,83 222.357,83 
Balance at 31 December 2019 0,00 -40.193,82 688.534,95 648.341,13 
          
Balance at 1 January 2020 0,00 -40.193,82 688.534,95 648.341,13 

OCI   -24.594,00 -24.594,00 
Profit/(loss) for the year   -32.737,85 -32.737,85 
Balance at 31 December 2020 0,00 -40.193,82 631.203,10 591.009,28 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

 



Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2020 
EUR Notes 2020 2019 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES        
Profit/(loss) for the year  -32.737,85 222.357,83 
Adjustments for:    
Finance income 6 -6.990,14 -10.153,71 
Finance costs 6 28.178,54 48.187,63 
Net foreign exchange differences  0,00 0,00 
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment 8 260.235,15 256.162,94 
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets  0,00 0,00 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  0,00 0,00 
European Parliament grant 4 -4.185.506,10 -5.006.030,26 
Impairment loss on trade receivables 12 39.997,06 3.529,61 
Movement in defined benefit obligation 14 8.246,43 10.569,00 
Net profit/(loss) before changes in working capital   -3.888.576,91 -4.475.376,95     
Changes in working capital:    
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 12 387.521,14 65.456,57 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 15 -245.455,13 -184.710,33 
Cash receipt/(reimbursement) European Parliament grant:  

  
Receipt of European Parliament grant  5.567.480,00 6.238.125,20 
Net cash flows from operating activities   1.820.969,10 1.643.494,49 

    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

    
Purchases of intangible assets  0,00 0,00 
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 8 -9.196,70 -7.994,76 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 8 0,00 0,00 
Net cash flows from investing activities   -9.196,70 -7.994,76 

    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

    
Repayment of borrowings  0,00 0,00 
Proceeds from borrowings  0,00 0,00 
Interest paid  0,00 0,00 
Interest paid on lease liabilities  -8.955,04 -17.093,03 
Payments of lease liabilities  -243.584,41 -216.122,38 
Net cash flows from financing activities   -252.539,45 -233.215,41 

    
Movement in cash and cash equivalents including bank 
overdrafts 

  
1.559.232,91 1.402.284,32     

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   1.559.232,91 1.402.284,32 
Net foreign exchange difference    
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January   2.446.640,42 1.044.356,10 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December   4.005.873,33 2.446.640,42 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 

1. General information 
 
Wilfried Martens Centre for European Studies is a non-profit organization incorporated and 
domiciled in Belgium. The registered office is located at Rue du Commerce 10, 1000 Brussels. The 
Foundation is the official think-tank of the European People’s Party (EPP) and its purpose is to: 
 

 monitor, analyse and contribute to the debate of the policy priorities of the European 
Union;  

 organize and support seminars, training, conferences and publications on important 
European themes;  

 collaborate with high-profile academics, journalists, experts and opinion-makers, as well as 
with independent centres and institutes;  

 use all possible means to disseminate the results of its activities. 
 
Financial statements 

The financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2020 were authorized for issue 
in accordance with the signature of the representatives. 

Board of directors 

At the end of the financial period, the Board of Directors was composed of the following members: 

Name Function Start of mandate End of mandate 

LOPEZ-ISTURIZ Antonio   Administrator 02-07-2020 02-07-2023 

DAUL Joseph Administrator 02-07-2020 02-07-2023 

DZURINDA Mikulás  President  02-07-2020 02-07-2023 

METSOLA Roberta Administrator 02-07-2020 02-07-2023 

POETTERING Hans-Gert Administrator 02-07-2020 02-07-2023 

ALFANO Angelino Administrator 02-07-2020 02-07-2023 

EDGARDT Peter Administrator 02-07-2020 02-07-2023 

SIEGMANN Arjen Administrator 02-07-2020 02-07-2023 
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Auditors 

The statutory audit of the standalone financial statements is performed by Grant Thornton 
Réviseurs d’Entreprises SCRL  represented by Gunther Loits. 

Figures in the financial statements 

These financial statements are presented in euro, which is the foundation’s presentation currency 
and the functional currency of the foundation. All amounts in these financial statements are 
presented in euro, unless otherwise stated. 
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2. Significant accounting policies 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set 
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated. 

2.1. Basis of preparation 

The financial statements of the Foundation for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and IFRS 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations as endorsed by the European Union.   

The historical cost convention has been used to prepare the financial statements. The accrual basis 
of accounting has been used to prepare the financial statements based on the assumption that the 
Foundation is a going concern and will continue operation in the foreseeable future. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of 
applying the Foundation’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements 
are disclosed in note 3. 
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2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

a) Current versus non-current classification 

The foundation presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on 
current/non-current classification. An asset is current when it is: 

 Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle, 
meaning within a calendar year, 

 Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period , Cash or cash 
equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period. 

All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 

 It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle, 
 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading, 
 It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
 There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve 

months after the reporting period. 

The foundation classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 

b) Foreign currencies 

Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of the Foundation are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The 
financial statements are presented in euro (EUR), which is the Foundation’s presentation currency 
and the functional currency of the Foundation. 

Transactions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Foundation at their respective 
functional currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition, which rarely 
happens. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. The transactions in foreign 
currency are not significant. 
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c) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and 
accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalized 
development costs, are not capitalized and the related expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in 
the period in which the expenditure is incurred. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as finite. The Foundation does not have any 
intangible assets with an indefinite useful life. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The 
amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life 
are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or 
the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are 
considered to modify the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as 
changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite useful 
lives is recognized in the income statement in the expense category that is consistent with the 
function of the intangible assets.  

An intangible asset is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset 
are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and are recognized in the income statement when the asset is derecognized. 

Website costs 

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Website development costs are only recognized as 
intangible asset if: 1/ it can be demonstrated that the website will generate probable future 
economic benefits when, for example, donations can be made through the website and 2/ the 
Foundation can demonstrate: 

 The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that the asset will be available 
for use or sale;  

 Its intention to complete and its ability and intention to use or sell the asset;  

 How the asset will generate future economic benefits;  

 The availability of resources to complete the asset; and 

 The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development. 
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Directly attributable costs that are capitalized as part of the intangible asset include costs incurred 
for external consultants and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. 
 
Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognized as an expense as 
incurred. Development costs previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset 
in a subsequent period. 
 
Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at 
cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization will 
begin when development is completed and the asset is available for use. The costs are amortized 
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives (4 years). During the period of 
development, the asset is tested for impairment annually. 
 
No website costs have met the recognition criteria mentioned above, therefore, there is not 
recognised any intangible assets in the financial statements. 
 

d) Property, plant and equipment 

The Foundation’s property, plant and equipment are mainly composed of IT equipment, furniture, 
office equipment, leasehold improvements and right-of-use assets relating to lease contract of  
offices, storage room ,vehicles, and IT equipment (printer).  
 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less subsequent depreciation and 
impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the items. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the Foundation and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of 
the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income 
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 
 
Depreciation on the assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost over 
their estimated useful lives. These useful lives have been determined as follows: 
 

Property, plant and equipment Useful lives 
IT equipment 4 years 
Office equipment and furniture 4-10 years 
Leasehold improvements The shorter of the lease term and the asset’s  

economic life 
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The methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each financial year-
end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. Where an asset’s carrying amount is greater than 
its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is 
derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the income 
statement when the asset is derecognized. 

e) European Parliament grants 

The Foundation receives a grant from the European Parliament, which is awarded at the beginning 
of each accounting year since January 1st, 2019, whereas before it was most of the time awarded 
at the end of the prior accounting year. At that moment there is a reasonable assurance that the 
grant will be received and all attached conditions (execution of the work plan) will be complied 
with. Since the grant relates to expense items, it is recognized as income on a systematic basis over 
the periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.  
 
The foundation makes an assessment at the end of the accounting year of the amount of eligible 
expenditure it has incurred. The portion of the grant that will cover this expenditure is recorded as 
income in the income statement. Two scenarios can occur: 

 Scenario 1 in which the amount of eligible expenditure matches the grant amount or 
exceeds the grant amount. In this scenario, the entire grant is recorded as income in the 
income statement,  

 Scenario 2 in which the amount of eligible expenditure is less than the grant amount. In this 
scenario, the portion of the grant that is not used can be carried over to the next year. The 
amount of the carry-over will be accounted for as a liability in the balance sheet and will be 
released the next accounting year once the expenditure it is intended to cover has been 
incurred. 

At the end of the reporting period, the final balance of eligible expenditure is determined after the 
external audit. The expenditure that is rejected through this audit may lead to a reduction of the 
final grant and can result in a reimbursement of a portion of the grant by the political Foundation 
to the European Parliament. After payment of the final balance, the European Parliament can as 
well perform an audit even up till 5 years after the payment. This audit can also lead to a reduction 
of the grant amount and a reimbursement. If the Foundation has to make a reimbursement to the 
European Parliament, the Foundation needs to account for a liability. 
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f) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on 
hand and short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered 
an integral part of the Foundation’s cash management. 

g) Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss. The 
Foundation’s financial assets are composed of trade and other receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents. These financial assets have been classified as subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, except for cash and cash equivalents. 

The trade receivables do not contain a significant financing component and have been initially 
measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15. The cash and cash equivalents have 
been initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in three categories: 

 Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments), 
 Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt 

instruments), or with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition 
(equity instruments), 

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

The Foundation’s financial assets are classified as financial assets at amortised cost (debt 
instruments) since both of the following conditions are met: 

 The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets 
in order to collect contractual cash flows, and 
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 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) 
method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. 

The financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired. 

In terms of impairment of the trade receivables, the Foundation applies a simplified approach in 
calculating Expected Credit Losses (ECL). The Foundation does not track changes in credit risk, but 
instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. A provision 
matrix that is based on historical credit loss experience has been established, which is adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.  

All financial assets are fully written off after two years when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovering the contractual cash flows. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a 
financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Foundation 
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full. 

Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments 
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, 
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Foundation’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and loans and borrowings 
including bank overdrafts. 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification. The Foundation’s financial 
liabilities are all classified in the category loans and borrowings, or the category payables. 

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.  
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Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs 
in the statement of profit or loss.  

The financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. 

Offsetting financial instruments: 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The Foundation does 
not offset its financial assets and liabilities. 

h) Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Foundation assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may 
be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, 
the Foundation estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. When the carrying amount 
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down 
to its recoverable amount. Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 
 
There were no indications that assets may be impaired during the accounting period. Moreover, 
the Foundation does not have intangible assets that are not ready to use or are not subject to 
amortization. As a result, there is no requirement to perform a yearly impairment test. 

i) Provisions for other liabilities and charges 

A provision is recognized when the Foundation has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
where, as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. When the Foundation expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for 
example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but 
only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to  
a provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-
tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, 
the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
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j) Leases – lessee accounting 

The Foundation assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, 
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration. 

The Foundation leases office workspace, storage space , vehicles and office supplies. The 
Foundation applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases for which it is 
the lessee. The Foundation recognised lease liabilities and right-of-use assets representing the 
right to use the underlying assets. In accordance with IFRS 16, the simplified modified retrospective 
method has been applied for the transition to IFRS 16 at the date of initial application of 1 January 
2019. 

Lease liabilities 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Foundation recognises lease liabilities measured at 
the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include 
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, 
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be payable 
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase 
option if reasonably certain to be exercised by the Foundation and payments of penalties for 
terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Foundation exercising the option to terminate. 
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the 
measurement of the liability.  Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate 
are recognised as expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment 
occurs. 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Foundation uses the incremental borrowing 
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable. The incremental borrowing rate is the rate that the individual lessee would have to 
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a 
similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions. To determine the 
incremental borrowing rate, the Foundation: 

 uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate (swap) adjusted for credit 
risk for leases held by the Foundation, taking into the term of the lease and the economic 
environment, and 

 makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. nature of the underlying asset, country, and 
currency. 
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After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion 
of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. The interest expense is charged to profit or 
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability for each period. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is 
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance 
fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset. The 
Foundation is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index 
or rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to 
lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted 
against the right-of-use asset. 

The Foundation selected the accounting policy to present interest paid on lease liabilities as part 
of the cash flows for financing activities. 

Right-of-use assets 

The Foundation recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the 
date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease 
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of initial measurement of the lease 
liability, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows: 

Underlying assets Depreciation terms 
Office 12 years 
Vehicles 4 years 
Leased space (storage) 15 years 
Office supplies 5 years 

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Foundation at the end of the lease term, or the 
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated 
useful live of the asset. 

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section 
re ‘Impairment of non-financial assets’. 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

The Foundation applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of 
machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value 
assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. 
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Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

The information about leases is included in the following notes: 

Depreciation charges on right-of-use assets Note 5 Expense by nature and other operating 
expenses 

Interest expense on lease liabilities Note 6 Finance income and costs  
Right of use assets movement Note 8 Property, plant and equipment 
Lease liabilities movement Note 9 Financial assets and financial liabilities 

 

k) Leases – Lessor accounting 

Leases in which the Foundation does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising from leases of office 
space is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in other operating 
income in the statement of profit or loss. The Foundation is not a lessor.  

l) Pensions 

Defined benefit plans  

The Foundation operates a defined benefit plan for its employees in Belgium funded through 
payments to KBC Verzekeringen NV/AG Insurance. The employer guarantees a minimum return of 
1,75% on employee contributions and 1,75% on employer contributions resulting in a financial risk 
to be borne by the Foundation. Because of this minimum return all plans in Belgium are defined 
benefit plans. 

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected 
unit credit method. Remeasurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the 
asset ceiling, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability and the 
return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit 
liability), are recognised immediately in the statement of financial position with a corresponding 
debit or credit to retained earnings through OCI in the period in which they occur. 
Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of: 

 The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and  
 The date that the Foundation recognises related restructuring costs 
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Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. 
The Foundation recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under 
‘General and Administration expenses’ in the statement of profit or loss (by function): 

 Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on 
curtailments and non-routine settlements, 

 Net interest expense or income 
 

m) Joint Projects 

A joint operation is a joint arrangement not structured in a separate vehicle, in which the parties 
with joint control have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the 
arrangement. A joint operator shall recognize 

(a) its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 
(b) its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;  
(c) its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation; 
(d) its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and 
(e) its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. 
 
The Foundation performs joint projects, in which it enters into a joint arrangement together with 
the member foundations. The cost incurred in these projects are for usually 50% covered by the 
member foundations and both parties have joint rights to the asset being created. The portion of 
the cost covered by the member foundation is set off against the revenue flowing from the invoices 
issued to the member foundation. 
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2.3. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures  
The Foundation applied IFRS 16 Leases as from 1 January 2019. The nature and effect of the 
changes as a result of adoption of this new accounting standard is described below. 

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2020, but do not have an 
impact on the financial statements of the Foundation. The Foundation has not early adopted any 
standards, interpretations or amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective. 

IFRS 16 Leases  

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and supersedes IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an 
Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the 
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for 
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to 
recognise most leases on the balance sheet. The Foundation elected to use one recognition 
exemption for lessees – leases of short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or 
less).  

The Foundation adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method with the date of initial 
application of 1 January 2019. Under this method, the standard is applied retrospectively with the 
cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised at the date of initial application. The 
Foundation elected to apply the standard only to contracts that were previously identified as leases 
applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The Foundation will therefore not apply the standard to contracts that 
were not previously identified as containing a lease applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The Foundation 
also elected to use the exemptions on lease contracts for which the lease terms ends within 12 
months as of the date of initial application, and lease contracts for which the underlying asset is of 
low value.  

The Foundation mainly leases office workspace, storage room, vehicles and office supplies, that 
are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16 as from 1 January 2019 and were previously 
accounted for as operating leases under IAS 17.  

The Foundation recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for those leases previously 
classified as operating leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The 
right-of-use assets were recognised based on the amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted for 
any related prepaid and accrued lease payments previously recognised. Lease liabilities were 
recognised based on the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the 
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application or the interest rate implicit in the lease 
when available. The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease 
liabilities on 1 January 2020 was 1.61%.  
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The Foundation also applied the available practical expedients wherein it:  

 Used a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics  
 Applied the short-term leases exemptions to leases with lease term that ends within 12 

months of the date of initial application  
 Applied the low value exemption to leases for which the underlying assets value is lower 

than 5.000 EUR 
 Excluded the initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date 

of initial application  
 Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contained options to 

extend or terminate the lease 

2.4. Standards issued but not yet effective 
The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to 
the date of issuance of the Foundation’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Foundation 
intends to adopt these standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective. 

 Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
- Interest Rate Benchmark Reform, effective 1 January 2020 

 Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement and IFRS 7 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform, effective 1 January 
2020 

 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, effective 1 January 2021 
 Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current, effective 1 

January 2022 
 Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 – Disclosure of Accounting Policies, 

effective 1 January 2023 
 Amendments to IAS 8 – Definition of Accounting Estimates, effective 1 January 2023 
 Amendments to IFRS 16 – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021, 

effective 1 April 2021 
 Amendments to IFRS 1 – Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction, effective 1 January 2023 
 Amendments to IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts - deferral of IFRS 9: applicable for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021. 
 Amendments to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use: 

applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. 
 Amendments to IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets: Onerous 

Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract: applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2022. 
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 Amendments to IFRS 3: Business Combinations: Reference to the Conceptual Framework: 
applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. 

 Annual improvements to IFRS Standards (2018 - 2020 cycle): applicable for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2022. 

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgments 
 
The preparation of the Foundation’s financial statements requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, 
assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. 
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a 
material adjustment to the carrying amount of asset or liability affected in future periods. 
 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Foundation based 
its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were 
prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may 
change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Foundation. 
Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 
 

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract assets 

The Foundation uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates 
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss 
patterns (i.e. by customer type).  
 
The provision matrix is initially based on the Foundation’s historical observed default rates. The 
Foundation will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions are expected to deteriorate over  
the next year this could lead to an increased number of defaults and an adjustment of the historical 
default rates. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and 
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. 
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The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic 
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in 
circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Foundation’s historical credit loss 
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s 
actual default in the future. 
Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options 

The Foundation determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with 
any periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or 
any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be 
exercised. For extension options, the Foundation applies judgement in evaluating whether it is 
reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors that 
create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. Management considers that it is 
reasonably certain that the lease term for the office facilities will be extended for another 3 years 
following the end of the initial term.  

After the commencement date, the Foundation reassesses the lease term if there is a significant 
event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not 
to exercise) the option to renew (e.g., a change in business strategy). 

Defined benefit plans (pension benefits) 

The Foundation operates a pension plan funded through payments to an insurance Foundation. 
Due to the minimum return employers in Belgium are required to guarantee, this plan meets the 
definition of a defined benefit plan under IAS 19.  
 
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and the present value of the pension obligation are 
determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions 
which may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the 
discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the 
complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long-term nature, a defined benefit 
obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each 
reporting date. 
 
The parameter most subject to change is the discount rate. In determining the appropriate 
discount rate, management considers the interest rates of corporate bonds in currencies 
consistent with the currency of the post-employment benefit obligation with at least an ‘AA’ rating 
or above, as set by an internationally acknowledged rating agency, and extrapolated as needed 
along the yield curve to correspond with the expected term of the defined benefit obligation. The 
underlying bonds are further reviewed for quality. Those having excessive credit spreads are 
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removed from the analysis of bonds on which the discount rate is based, on the basis that they do 
not represent high quality bonds.  
 
The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the specific country. Those 
mortality tables tend to change only at intervals in response to demographic changes. Future salary 
increases and pension increases are based on expected future inflation rates for the respective 
countries. 
 
Recovery order European Parliament Grant 

The external auditor and/or auditor of the European Parliament can reject expenditure of the 
Foundation if not eligible. This can result in a recovery order being issued to the Foundation and 
hence a reimbursement of a portion of the grant. If this is the case, the Foundation sets up a 
provision at year end. In December 2020 this provision amounts to EUR 1.886.339,91 (2019: EUR 
266.582,15).  
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4. Other income 
The line item “Other income” in the income statement relates to: 

EUR 2020 2019 

Other income   

European Parliament Grant 2.647.267,00 4.433.303,77 
EP carry-over 1.538.239,28 572.726,49 
Contributions partners 20.294,27 0,00 
Contribution member foundations 172.370,22 0,00 
Sponsorships 64.640,00 0,00 
Other 39.397,45 0,00 
Total other income 4.482.208,22 5.006.030,26 
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5. Expenses by nature and other operating income 
A breakdown of the “General and administrative expenses” by nature can be found in the table 
below: 

EUR 2020 2019 

Advertising and promotional costs 119.189,61 109.785,18 
Amortization intangible assets 0,00 0,00 
Depreciation Property Plant and Equipment 9.796,56 33.333,39 
Depreciation on right of use - offices 235.089,29 204.348,57 
Depreciation on right of use - IT equipment 2.962,85 6.094,69 
Depreciation on right of use - vehicles 12.386,45 12.386,45 
Event costs 495.725,59 1.272.853,60 
Meetings and representation costs 13.436,99 98.052,96 
Office equipment 105.862,71 60.566,07 
Infrastructure and operating costs 12.177,27 8.348,04 
Rent 11.093,91 4.418,56 
Utilities and maintenance 106.583,18 134.542,39 
Accounting cost 76.871,56 78.515,86 
Documentation costs (newspaper, database, press 
agencies) 9.494,12 7.683,95 
Research and development costs 296.004,10 428.975,05 
Information and publication costs 132.234,33 175.466,39 
IT, phone & internet 24.766,50 55.061,53 
Website 16.177,70 0,00 
Wages and salaries 1.905.605,08 1.712.283,22 
Social security cost 431.746,06 408.058,87 
Post-employment benefit expenses 82.690,32 83.447,00 
Employer related costs – Cars, trainings and others 227.883,73 310.839,88 
ECL of trade receivables 39.997,06 3.529,61 
Political project 0,00 0,00 
Recharge of costs related to joint projects 0,00 -622.669,30 
Other 123.589,24 155.314,13 
Total 4.491.364,21 4.741.236,09 

 

A breakdown of the “Other operating income/(expenses) - net” by nature can be found in the table 
below. The income is presented with a negative sign and the expenses are presented with a 
positive sign. 

  2020 2019 

EUR Other operating 
(income) 

Other operating 
expenses 

Other operating 
(income) 

Other operating 
expenses 

Loss realisation trade debtors 0,00 14.429,42 0,00 16.245,78 
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Foreign exchange (gain)/loss 0,00 925,25 0,00 161,13 
Taxes 0,00 121,82 0,00 504,83 
Other (income)/expense -13.083,21 0,00 -12.509,76 0,00 
Total -13.083,21 15.476,49 -12.509,76 16.911,74 

 

6. Finance income and costs 
Finance income   

   
EUR 2020 2019 

Interest income on:   

Defined benefit obligation 6.877,00 10.115,00 
Other finance income 113,14 38,71 
Total finance income 6.990,14 10.153,71 

 
  

 
  

Finance costs   

   

Leases interest expenses 8.955,04 17.093,03 
Interest expense on defined benefit obligation 8.208,00 11.310,00 
Bank charges 10.990,90 15.942,16 
Other finance costs 24,60 3.842,44 
Total finance costs 28.178,54 48.187,63 
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7. Employee benefit expense 
 

EUR 

Included in 
General and 

administrative 
expenses 

Included in Other 
operating 

income/expenses 

Included in General and 
administrative expenses 

Included in Other 
operating 

income/expenses 

Wages and salaries 1.905.605,08 -13.083,21 1.712.283,22 -12.509,76 
Social security costs 431.746,06 0,00 408.058,87 0,00 
Employer related costs 227.883,73 0,00 310.839,88 0,00 
Post-employment benefit expenses 82.690,32 0,00 83.447,00 0,00 
Total employee benefit expense 2.647.925,19 -13.083,21 2.514.628,97 -12.509,76 

 

  2020   2019 

Average number of employees - head office 25,50  24,30 
Total average number of employees 25,50   24,30 
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8. Property, plant and equipment 

EUR 

Plant, 
Machinery 

and 
equipment 

Furniture 
and material 

Leasehold 
improvemen

ts 

Right of use 
- offices 

Right of 
use - 

vehicles 

Right of 
use - IT 

equipment 
Total 

At 1 January 2019        

Cost or valuation 183.527,42 120.426,11 54.478,44 0,00 0,00 42.662,84 1.954.674,34 
Accumulated depreciation, 
impairments and other 
adjustments -154.595,21 -95.898,42 -31.851,12 0,00 0,00 0,00 -282.344,75 
Opening net book value 
at 1 January 2019 28.932,21 24.527,69 22.627,32 0,00 0,00 42.662,84 1.672.329,59 

 
       

Period ended 31 
December 2019 

       

Initial application of IFRS 
16 

0,00 0,00 0,00 1.216.138,12 35.543,61 0,00 1.251.681,73 

New leases 0,00 0,00 0,00 258.377,80 0,00 0,00 258.377,80 
Remeasurement of lease 
liability 0,00 0,00 0,00 43.520,00  0,00 0,00 43.520,00 

Additions 7.994,76 0,00 0,00  0,00  0,00  0,00  7.994,76 
Disposals 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 
Closing Cost or Valuation 
at 31 December 2019 191.522,18 120.426,11 54.478,44 1.518.035,93 35.543,61 42.662,84 1.962.669,10 

        
Accumulated depreciation 
on disposals 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 
Depreciation charge for 
the year -11.157,90 -5.279,90 -16.895,43 -204.348,57 -12.386,45 -6.094,69 -256.162,94 
Closing Accumulated 
depreciation, 
impairments and other 
adjustments at 31 
December 2019 -165.753,11 -101.178,32 -48.746,55 -204.348,57 -12.386,45 -6.094,69 -538.507,69 

        
Closing net book value at 
31 December 2019 25.769,07 19.247,79 5.731,89 1.313.687,36 23.157,15 36.568,15 1.424.161,41 

        
Period ended 31 
December 2020 

       

Remeasurement lease 
liability 0,00 0,00 0,00 61.505,08  0,00  -14.060,09 47.444,99 
Additions 9.196,70 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 9.196,70 
Disposals 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 
Closing Cost or Valuation 
at 31 December 2020 200.718,88 120.426,11 54.478,44 1.579.541,00 35.543,61 28.602,75 2.019.310,79 

        
Accumulated depreciation 
on disposals 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 
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Depreciation charge for 
the year -12.601,22 -5.279,89 8.084,55 -235.089,29 -12.386,45 -2.962,85 -260.235,15 
Closing Accumulated 
depreciation, 
impairments and other 
adjustments at 31 
December 2020 -178.354,33 -106.458,21 -40.662,00 -439.437,86 -24.772,90 -9.057,54 -798.742,84 

        
Closing net book value at 
31 December 2020 22.364,55 13.967,90 13.816,44 1.140.103,14 10.770,70 19.545,21 1.220.567,94 

 

The Foundation has lease contracts for offices, storage,  vehicles and office supplies. Leases have 
lease terms between 4 and 12 years. 

As at 31 December 2020, the Foundation has 1 lease of with lease terms of 12 months, but no low 
value leases.  

The Foundation has the option, under its leases of office space to extend the term for an additional 
3 years period following the end of the initial term (tacit renewal every 3 years). The Foundation 
has included a renewal of 3 years because it judges that it is reasonably certain that the lease term 
will be extended for that period of time.  
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9. Financial assets and financial liabilities 

a) Financial assets 

Financial assets    
  31 December 2020   31 December 2019 

 EUR  EUR 
Debt instruments at amortised cost    

Non-current financial assets 0,00  0,00 
Trade receivables & Other receivables 353.429,54  780.909,03 
Total financial assets  353.429,54  780.909,03 

 
   

Total current  353.429,54  780.909,03 
Total non-current 0,00  0,00 

 

b) Financial liabilities 

  31 December 2020   31 December 2019 
 EUR  EUR 

Other financial liabilities at amortised cost, other than interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings 

 

Trade and other payables (Note 15) 200.450,60  468.133,79 
European parliament grant 3.186.795,33  1.804.821,43 
Total other financial liabilities 3.387.245,93  2.272.955,22 
Total current  3.387.245,93  2.272.955,22 
Total non-current 0,00  0,00 
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a. Financial liabilities: Borrowings 

 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings       

  Interest rate   Maturity   31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

 %    EUR EUR 

Current interest-bearing loans  
 

 
 

  
and borrowings   

Leasing liabilities 0,62% - 1,62%  2021  243.445,21 244.179,31 
Bank overdrafts      0,00 0,00 
Bank loan      0,00 0,00 
Total current interest-bearing loans  

 
 

 243.445,21 244.179,31 
and borrowings       

     
  

Non-current interest-bearing loans  
 

 
 

  
and borrowings   

  
Leasing liabilities 0,62% - 1,62%  2022-2025  940.535,32 1.135.940,23 
Bank overdrafts  

   0,00 0,00 
Bank loan     0,00 0,00 
Total non-current interest-bearing  

 
 

 940.535,32 1.135.940,23 
loans and borrowings       
Total interest-bearing loans  

 
 

 1.183.980,53 1.380.119,54 
and borrowings        
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c) Fair Values 

The Foundation has mainly short term financial assets and financial liabilities for which the carrying 
amount is a reasonable approximation of the fair value. Moreover the carrying amount of leasing 
liabilities is also a reasonable approximation of the fair value. 

Set out below is a comparison, by class, of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s 
financial instruments: 

  31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value 

 EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Financial assets     

Non-current financial assets 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 

Trade & Other receivables (Current) 353.429,54 353.429,54 780.909,03 780.909,03 

Total 353.429,54 353.429,54 780.909,03 780.909,03 

Financial liabilities         

Leasing liabilities - Current 243.445,21 243.445,21 1.380.119,54 1.380.119,54 

Leasing liabilities - Non-Current 940.535,32 940.535,32     

Bank loan  0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 

Trade & Other payables (Current) 3.387.245,93 3.387.245,93 2.272.955,22 2.272.955,22 

Total 4.571.226,46 4.571.226,46 3.653.074,76 3.653.074,76 
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10. Financial risk management 

a) Financial risk factors 

 
The Foundation’s principal financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, lease liabilities, and 
trade and other payables. The main purpose of these liabilities is to finance the Foundation’s 
operations. The Foundation’s principal financial assets include trade receivables, and cash and 
short term deposits that derive directly from its operations. The Foundation is exposed primarily 
to market risk, currency risk and liquidity risk. Foundation’s managers oversee the management of 
these risks. 

The Foundation’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Foundation’s financial 
performance. The objective is to identify, quantify, manage and then monitor events or actions 
that could lead to financial losses.  

Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises interest rate risk and foreign exchange 
risk. The Foundation’s interest rate risk is limited given the short term nature of the borrowings. 

Foreign exchange risk 
 
The Foundation’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the 
Foundation’s operating activities. Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Foundation’s 
exposure to foreign currency changes for all other currencies is not material. 

Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument 
or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Foundation is exposed to credit risk from its 
operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits 
with banks and financial institutions.  
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Credit risk from operating activities 

The trade receivables balance contain the member Foundation contributions to be received. The 
impairment policy of the Foundation is to write-off receivables as soon as they remain unpaid for 
two years. When members are excluded, the related receivable is often waived and written-off. 

For its receivables, the Foundation has policies to ensure that her receivables on member parties 
or members are closely monitored by the finance department. Credit quality of a customer is 
assessed based on an extensive credit rating scorecard and individual credit limits are defined in 
accordance with this assessment.  

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure 
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various 
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e. customer type and rating, and coverage by 
letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is 
available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future 
economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written-off if past due for more than two 
years and are not subject to enforcement activity. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the 
reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets. The Group does not hold 
collateral as security. 

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables 
and contract assets using a provision matrix: 

31 December 2020   Current 1-90 91-180 181-270 > 270 >2 years Total 

   EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR  EUR 
Expected credit loss 
rate (%) 

 0,01 0,03 0,06 0,08 0,14 0,40   

Estimated total gross 
carrying amount at 
default  

   -30.232,19   
  63.531,01 86.086,40 

119.385,22 

Expected credit loss  0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 8.806,66 34.720,01 43.526,67 

          
Trade Receivables          

Days past due                   

31 December 2019   Current 1-90 91-180 181-270 > 270 >2 years Total 

   EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR  EUR 
Expected credit loss 
rate (%) 

 0,01 0,01 0,02 0,03 0,03     

Estimated total gross 
carrying amount at 
default  

 36.934,41 -46,45 -8.412,35 -
42.778,32 169.786,44   

155.483,73 

Expected credit loss  274,28 -0,44 -189,43 -1.192,90 4.638,10   3.529,61 
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Credit risk from financing activities 

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Foundation’s 
finance department in accordance with the Foundation’s policy. The Foundation’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of financial position at 31 December 
2020 and 2019 is the carrying amounts as illustrated in Note 10. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
The Foundation monitors its risk of a shortage of funds using a liquidity planning tool. The amounts 
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.  
 

At 31 December 2020 (EUR) Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash  flow 

Less than 1 
year 

Between 1 
and 2 
years 

Between 2 
and 5 
years 

  Over 5 years 

Borrowings 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00  0,00 

Trade and other payables 522.809,68 522.809,68 0,00 0,00 0,00  0,00 

Leasing liabilities 1.183.980,53 1.203.788,59 250.685,97 247.540,62 705.562,00    

European Parliament grant 3.186.795,33 3.186.795,33 0,00 0,00 0,00  0,00 
        

At 31 December 2019 (EUR) Less than 1 
year 

  Between 1 
and 2 years 

Between 2 
and 5 
years 

  Over 5 
years 

Total 

Borrowings 0,00  0,00 0,00   0,00 0,00 

Trade and other payables 757.249,31   0,00 0,00   0,00 757.249,31 

Leasing liabilities 264.328,56   258.809,13 759.158,10   161.339,81 1.443.635,60 

European Parliament grant 1.804.821,43   0,00 0,00   0,00 1.804.821,43 
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Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities are shown in the table below 

 1 January 
2020 

Cash 
outflows 

Cash 
inflows 

IFRS 16 
impact & 

Other 
New Lease 31 December 2020 

 EUR EUR EUR EUR  EUR 
Current interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings (excluding items 
listed below) 

0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 

Current leasing liabilities 244.179,31 -244.179,31 0,00 243.445,21 0,00 243.445,21 
Non-current interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings (excluding 
items listed below) 

0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 

Non-current leasing liabilities  1.135.940,23 0,00 0,00 -195.404,91 0,00 940.535,32 
Total liabilities from financing 
activities 

1.380.119,54 -204.427,40 0,00 48.040,30 0,00 1.183.980,53 

 
      

 
1 January 

2019 

 
    

Cash 
outflows 

Cash 
inflows 

IFRS 16 
impact & 

Other 
New Lease  

31 December 2019 
 EUR EUR EUR EUR  EUR 

Current interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings (excluding items 
listed below) 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00   0,00 
Current leasing liabilities 0,00 -216.122,38 0,00 413.018,93 47.283,21 244.179,31 
Non-current interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings (excluding 
items listed below) 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00   0,00 
Non-current leasing liabilities  0,00 0,00 0,00 924.845,63 211.094,60 1.135.940,23 
Total liabilities from financing 
activities 0,00 -216.122,38 0,00 1.337.864,57 258.377,80  1.380.119,54 

 

b) Capital management 

 
The Foundation’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Foundation’s ability to 
continue as a going concern: 

EUR 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 2019 

Cash and cash equivalents - note 13 4.005.873,33 2.446.640,42 
Less: total borrowings  0,00 0,00 
Net cash 4.005.873,33 2.446.640,42 
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11. Joint Operations 
The Foundation has a 50% interest in a joint arrangement with the Member Foundations for which 
they conduct together joint projects, such as: conferences, debates, research papers, internal 
trainings, public events, etc. .The foundation will call for proposals to partners and choose projects 
that will go through an approval process with the executive board. Once the project is approved 
they implement the project together with their partner.  
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12. Trade and other receivables 
 

EUR 31 December 2020   31 December 2019 

Trade receivables 119.385,22  155.483,73 
Less: allowance for ECL -43.526,67   -3.529,61 
Trade receivables - net 75.858,55  151.954,12 
Accrued income and deferred charges 108.020,11  26.652,79 
Supplier repayment 0,00  49.444,31 
Invoices to make 155.126,10  249.231,17 
Provision Credit Note 2.339,15  1.047,21 
Other receivables 12.085,63  302.579,43 
Total 353.429,54   780.909,03 
non-current portion 0,00   0,00 
Current portion 353.429,54   780.909,03 

 
 

EUR 31 December 2020   31 December 2019 

At 1 January 3.529,61  0,00 
Addition to the ECL allowance 39.997,06  3.529,61 
At 31 December 43.526,67   3.529,61 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



WMCES – Financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2020 
 

Page 42 of 48 
 

13. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

EUR 31 December 2020   31 December 2019 

Cash at banks and on hand 4.005.873,33  2.446.640,42 
Short-term bank deposits -  - 
Savings account 0,00   0,00 
Total cash and cash equivalents (excluding bank overdrafts) 4.005.873,33  2.446.640,42 

 

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits 
are made for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate 
cash requirements of the Foundation, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.  

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flows: 

EUR 31 December 2020   31 December 2019 

Cash and cash equivalents 4.005.873,33  2.446.640,42 
Bank overdrafts   0,00  0,00 
Cash and cash equivalents (including bank overdrafts) 4.005.873,33   2.446.640,42 
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14. Pensions and other post-employment benefit plans 
 

EUR 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

Post-employment Pension Plan 95.277,00 61.179,00 
 
The Foundation’s defined benefit pension plan is a final salary plan for employees, which requires 
contributions to be made to a separately administered fund.  
 
This plan is governed by the employment laws. The level of benefits provided depends on the 
member’s length of service and salary at retirement age. 
 
The following tables summarise the funded status and amounts recognised in the statement of 
financial position and the components of net benefit expense recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss: 
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets are, as 
follows: 

 
 

 
 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

  EUR EUR 

Unquoted investments:   
Assets hold by insurance companies 607.751,00 545.260,00 
Total 607.751,00 545.260,00 
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Changes in the Net Liability are, as follows:  

 
 

The principal assumptions used in determining pension and post-employment medical benefit 
obligations for the Foundation’s plans are shown below: 

 

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions as at 31 December is, as shown below: 

 

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the 
impact on the defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions 
occurring at the end of the reporting period. The sensitivity analysis are based on a change in a 
significant assumption, keeping all other assumptions constant. The sensitivity analysis may not be 
representative of an actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that changes in 
assumptions would occur in isolation of one another. The same method has been applied for the 
sensitivity analysis as when calculating the recognised pension liability. 
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The following are the expected payments or contributions to the defined benefit plan in future 
years: 
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15. Trade and other payables 
 

EUR 31 December 2020   31 December 2019 

Trade payables 200.450,60  468.133,79 
Social security and other taxes 55.120,91  49.201,81 
European Parliament Grant 3.186.795,33  1.804.821,43 
Accrued expenses and deferred income    0,00 
Other liabilities/payables 267.238,17  239.913,71 
Trade and other payables 3.709.605,01   2.562.070,74 

 
   

Non-current portion 0,00   0,00 

 
   

Current portion 3.709.605,01   2.562.070,74 
 
 
The trade and other payables of the Foundation are current financial liabilities and are non-interest 
bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 60 day terms. 
 
The movement of the European Parliament Grant of the period is further detailed in the table 
below: 
 

Opening 1 January 2019 572.726,49 
Release grant into income statement -4.433.303,77 
Grant carried-over 2018 -572.726,49 
Adjustment to final grant 2019 0,00 
Reimbursement of grant  0,00 

Recovery order prior year 0,00 
Grant award 2020 6.238.125,20 
Closing 31 December 2019 1.804.821,43 
Release grant into income statement -2.647.266,82 
Grant carried-over 2019 -1.538.239,28 
Grant repaid EC 0,00 

Recovery order prior year 0,00 
Grant award  2020 5.567.480,00 
Closing 31 December 2020 3.186.795,33 
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16. Commitments and contingencies 
 
Contingent liabilities 

The rental agreements for the office space contains a restoration clause. However the 
restoration obligation is at the discretion of the lessor and therefore not within the control of the 
Foundation. 

 

17. Events after the reporting date 
 

1) COVID-19 Crisis: 

The coronavirus outbreak has had huge impacts on the EU economy. In response to the pandemic 
worldwide spread, many governments in affected jurisdictions imposed travel bans, quarantines 
and other emergency public safety measures. For example, governments have imposed 
restrictions on travel and the movement and gathering of people. The outbreak of the coronavirus 
did not require any adjustments to the figures reported in these annual accounts.  

For subsequent reporting periods, COVID-19 may affect the recognition and measurement of some 
assets and liabilities on the balance sheet and also of some revenue and expenses recognised in 
the statement of financial performance. For example, some planned events and meetings were 
cancelled, and revenues from external sources has decreased. The impact of these, among others 
effects, on the financial performance may be significant for the reporting year 2021. Based on the 
information available at the date of signature of these annual accounts, the further financial effects 
of the coronavirus outbreak cannot be reliably estimated. The situation gives rise to uncertainty 
on the ability of the entity to continue as a going concern.  The Board is evaluating the possible 
measures to combat the outbreak of activities and to sustain our going concern. 

2) Brexit: 

On 31 January 2020, the United Kingdom withdrew from the European Union. At present, 
negotiations for a new partnership with the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern 
Ireland are still ongoing. The Foundation estimates that this event will not have a significant 
impact on the operations and financial situation of the entity.  

Mikuláš Dzurinda
President

Antonio López-Istúriz
Secretary-Treasurer
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2020’s label will unfortunately be, above all, the year of 

the COVID-19 pandemic. It has marked the fates of many 

people, the way of life we used to enjoy, the way in which 

we communicated and worked, and in fact the entire 

world. On one hand, it has caused unprecedent fear for 

human lives, but on the other hand it stimulated signifi-

cant ones, such as the great effort to effectively coordi-
nate the fight against the virus and the decision to create 
the Recovery Fund – Next Generation EU. However, we 

ended the year with the faith that the vaccines humanity 

developed will save human lives and gradually get the 

situation under control, also eliminating the pandemic’s 

devastating impact on the economy.

Another sad moment of 2020 for the EU was, of course, 

the UK’s official exit. It was a very painful process, but 
largely chaotic on the British side. Even though we 

parted “in an orderly fashion”, the consequences will be 

felt on both sides for years to come. 

Another unquestionably significant event of 2020 was 
the US presidential election. The pandemic, along with 

the events surrounding the US election, such as the 

attack on the Capitol, proved how fragile democracy 

is, as are we. It shows the importance of taking care of 

democracy and fighting for it every day. It is good that 
American democratic institutions have shown resilience 

and functionality and that Joe Biden became President 

of the United States. Undoubtedly, it acts as renewed 

impetus for the West as a whole to restore inclusion. For 

the EU itself, it is a challenge to effectively contribute to a 
revitalisation of transatlantic relations. 

Another development has demonstrated the fragility and 

vulnerability of democracy in several EU member states, 

notably in the CEE region. Democracy has continued to 

deteriorate in Hungary and Poland, even though an arti-

cle 7 procedure has already been initiated against them. 

While it seems that civil society has suffered some 
losses in several EU countries, in some countries in our 

Eastern neighbourhood, we can witness its awakening, 

especially in Belarus, after the rigged presidential elec-

tion, and in Russia, after the attempt to kill civil activist 

Alexei Navalny. The recent development in our Eastern 

neighbourhood is a great challenge for us Europeans. 

We are obliged to contribute with concrete steps and 

activities to support human and civil rights and their 

protection in these countries. 

For the Martens Centre, 2020 was not only about adapt-

ing to a new way of working and interacting during the 

pandemic. It was about mapping the developments 

mentioned above and striving to come up with concrete 

solutions on how to face the key political issues and to 

prevent new ones. This Activity Report will prove that we 

valuably contributed to these areas, especially when it 

comes to sustainable environmental policy, economic 

and social systems, managing the pandemic, and de-

fending our citizens and the Western Community.
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As the EPP’s political foundation, the Mar-

tens Centre monitors, analyses and con-

tributes to the debate on EU policy that is 

relevant for both experts and the broader 

European public. The six main research 

themes cover a wide range of specific politi-
cal issues. Taking these themes as its point 

of departure, the Martens Centre produces 

research papers and policy briefs, and organ-

ises events and conferences.

All publications are available on:  

www.martenscentre.eu/publications
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European View
The European View is the policy journal of the Martens Centre. An intellectual 

platform for politicians, opinion makers and academics, it tackles contemporary 

themes of European politics, focusing on one specific theme in each issue.

The journal contributes to the debate on the most important fields of European 
and international politics. What makes it unique is its hybrid nature: its capacity to 

involve esteemed academics and experts, on the one hand, and high-level politi-

cians and decision-makers, on the other. Presidents and prime ministers regularly 

author articles for the journal.

New Perspectives 
on Migration Policies

Edited by Niklas Nováky 

Volume 19, Issue 1

Published in the midst of the fight against 
the COVID-19 pandemic, this edition of 

the European View looked to address a 

challenge that existed long before the pan-

demic and will remain long after, unless it 

is tackled – migration. It takes stock of the 

political realities of this important issue, 

considering its different societal and geo-

political aspects, and offers concrete solu-

tions for the Union to continue benefitting 
its citizens in the aftermath of COVID-19.

The Great Reset:  
What COVID-19  
Means for Europe

Edited by Niklas Nováky 

Volume 19, Issue 2

As a far-ranging crisis affecting virtually 
all areas, COVID-19 has fundamentally 

reshaped the paradigm for policymak-

ers. That is exactly what this edition of 

the European View sought to address: 

offering explanations and insights across 
the board on what this crisis entails, and 

what the future might look like, ranging 

from economics to foreign policy, and the 

all-important strategic autonomy.
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RESEARCH PAPER

Lifting the Integration Veil:  

Outcasts of Islam in Western 

Europe

By Tommaso Virgili
Edited by Vít Novotný

RESEARCH PAPER

Making a More European Britain: 

The Political, Economic and 

Societal Impacts of Brexit

By Tim Oliver and Garvan Walshe
Edited by Eoin Drea

IN BRIEF 

A Geopolitical, 5G Europe? 

Brussels needs to go big, 

or go home

By Eoin Drea

IN BRIEF 

“Flexibility without Limits”.  

The Political Economy Implications 

of the Coronavirus

By Eoin Drea 

POLICY BRIEF

Development Aid, Migration and 

Conditionality – The Case of the 

Marshall Plan with Africa

By Livia Benko

IN BRIEF

COVID-19 and Technology in the EU: 

Think Bigger than Apps

By Dimitar Lilkov

IN BRIEF

EU Trade Policy as an Economic 

Recovery Tool

By Aljoscha Nau

IN BRIEF

Whatever it takes, for as long as  

is needed: Mapping a new 

European Recovery Programme

By Eoin Drea

POLICY BRIEF

EU Human Rights Promotion  

in Central Asia – Between the 

Dragon and the Bear

By Igor Savchenko, Andrii 
Osavoliuk, and Kateryna Savchenko

IN FOCUS

The EU’s Security and Defence 

Policy: The Impact of the 

Coronavirus

By Niklas Nováky

IN BRIEF

Does the EU have sufficient 
healthcare competences  

to cope with COVID-19?

By Federico Ottavio Reho

IN FOCUS

Looking Beyond Coronabonds: 

What COVID-19 Means for the 

Future of the Eurozone

By Charles Wyplosz
Edited by Eoin Drea

RESEARCH PAPER 

Made in China: Tackling  

Digital Authoritarianism

By Dimitar Lilkov 

RESEARCH PAPER 

Fine-Tuning Europe: How to  

Win the Global FinTech Race?

By Tsvetelina Kuzmanova
Edited by Dimitar Lilkov
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Publications in 2020

IN BRIEF

COVID-19 and the Old-New Politics 

of Irregular Migration from Libya

By Vít Novotný

POLICY BRIEF

Towards a Sovereign Europe –  

A Centre-Right Approach 

By Angelos Chryssogelos

POLICY BRIEF

A Europe That Protects Its Heritage 

By Federico Ottavio Reho 
and Theo Larue

POLICY BRIEF 

Retaking the Cities: 

A Plan for the Centre–Right 

By Konrad Niklewicz
Edited by Federico Ottavio Reho

IN BRIEF

The Chinese Nightmare:  

Debt Risks Along the Silk Road

By Matthias Diermeier, Florian 
Güldner, and Thomas Obst 
Edited by Eoin Drea

IN BRIEF

A Marathon, not a Sprint: A Six Point 

Plan to Build Confidence, Create Jobs 
and Repair Public Finances

By Eoin Drea

IN BRIEF

Implications of the 2020 US 

Presidential Election for the EU

By Niklas Nováky and Roland 
Freudenstein

IN FOCUS

The New Pact on Migration:  

A Set of Innovative Proposals  

with an Uncertain Outcome

By Vít Novotný

POLICY BRIEF

The Strategic Compass: 

Charting a New Course for the 

EU’s Security and Defence Policy 

By Niklas Nováky

IN FOCUS

The Potential Outcome of the 

Conference on the Future of Europe 

in a COVID-19 World: Strengthening 

European Democracy

By Olivier Le Saëc

IN BRIEF

The Constitutional Basis for Sweden’s 

Exceptional COVID-19 Policy

By Lars Jonung
Edited by Eoin Drea

IN BRIEF

For a More Robust Approach Towards 

China in European Trade and 

Investment Policy

By Jürgen Matthes
Edited by Eoin Drea

IN BRIEF

Putting Women at the Heart  

of Europe’s Recovery

By Frances Fitzgerald MEP

POLICY BRIEF

Rethinking EU Crisis Management 

– From Battlegroups to a European 

Legion?

By Niklas Nováky

IN BRIEF

State of play in the Libyan  

Civil War

By Magnus Norell
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IN BRIEF

The EU and the Prospect of a  

New Migration Wave from Turkey

By Vít Novotný
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Unaware of what lay ahead, our External 

Cooperation and Events team hit the ground 

running with several high-level events at the 

start of the year, featuring MEPs, important 

politicians and political scientists. Eventu-

ally, the COVID-19 pandemic required us to 

transfer all our activites online, which did not 

stop us from delivering quality content mul-

tiple times a month. The one or more weekly 

online events we hosted also trained us to or-

ganise a successful hybrid digital Economic 

Ideas Forum.

All of our events are available on: 

www.martenscentre.eu/events
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04 MAR. — IN-HOUSE EVENT.

The Light that Failed: 

A conversation with Ivan Krastev 

and Radosław Sikorski

24 MAR. — ONLINE EVENT.

Lifting the Integration Veil: Outcasts 

from Islam in Western Europe

 02 APR. — ONLINE EVENT.

Is it the Politics, not the Pandemic, 

threatening the Euro?

09 APR. — ONLINE EVENT. 

Migration and Geopolitical 

Challenges for Europe in the Eastern 

Mediterranean 

(co-organised with KKID, Greece)

16 APR. — ONLINE EVENT. 

COVID-19 and the Future  

of Liberal Democracy 

(co-organised with GLOBSEC, Slovakia)

23 APR. — ONLINE EVENT. 

Can the EU gear up against COVID-19 

disinformation?

29 APR. — ONLINE EVENT. 

The Geopolitical Impact of COVID-19 

on the Middle East 

 07 MAY. — ONLINE EVENT.

Balkans in a New Era – An overview 

of the Croatian Presidency

14 MAY. — ONLINE EVENT. 

How Covid-19 Shapes  

the Future of Education

(co-organised with KKID, Greece)

20 MAY. — ONLINE EVENT. 

Crisis & Opportunity:  

Can the pandemic push  

technology forward?

 28 MAY. — ONLINE EVENT.

Privacy and Public Health:  

Thinking Bigger Than Apps

03 JUN. — ONLINE EVENT.

What is Next? The Future of 

Transatlantic Relations after 

the Pandemic 

(co-organised with The 
Fletcher School, Tufts 

University, USA) 

04 JUN. — EXCLUSIVE WEBINAR.

EU-US Discussion on 

Protecting Pharmaceutical 

Supply Chains

(co-organised with the 
Congressional Institute, USA)

15 JUN. — ONLINE EVENT. 

EU Defence Cooperation after 

COVID-19: Quo Vadis?

26 JUN.  — ONLINE EVENT.  

Hong Kong Under the Dragon’s 

Breath: How Should Europe 

Respond?

 22 JAN. — IN-HOUSE EVENT.

NGO lobbying on Trade and 

Investment: How to ensure 

accountability and transparency 

at the EU Level

04 FEB. — IN-HOUSE EVENT.

How to Get Moldova Back  

on the European Track

19 FEB. — EUROPEAN VIEW LAUNCH EVENT 

(IN-HOUSE).

Cool Politics: A Centre-right 

Strategy on Climate
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Events in 2020
17 SEP. — EXCLUSIVE WEBINAR.

The Effects of the Pandemic 
on EU-US Trade Relations and 

Tourism

(co-organised with the 
Congressional Institute, USA)

22 SEP. — ONLINE EVENT.

The Perils of Revisionism: 

Security Threats in the Eastern 

Mediterranean 

(co-organised with KKID, Greece) 

23 SEP. — ONLINE EVENT.

EU Ambitions for a Competitive 

Digital Marketplace: a Toolkit

29 SEP. — ONLINE EVENT.

The Return of the King:  

What does Brexit mean for Britain?

14 OCT. — ONLINE EVENT.

The New Pact on Migration:  

Will the Member States Sign Up? 

16 OCT. — ONLINE EVENT.

Perspectives on the EU’s  

Defence Clause: How Should  

it be Developed?

19 OCT. — ONLINE EVENT.

Belarus: What’s Next?

23 JUL. — ONLINE EVENT.

Berlin Calling: 6 Months  

to Lead the Union 

(co-organised with HSS 
and KAS, Germany)

05 NOV. — ONLINE EVENT.

Implications of the 2020 U.S. 

Presidential Election for the EU 

(co-organised with The Fletcher 
School, Tufts University, USA)

12 NOV. — ONLINE EVENT.

Bridging the East-West Divide on 

Climate Change

17 NOV. — ONLINE EVENT.

Is the Digital Markets Act  

giving the European Economy  

and Consumers what they need 

right now?

03 DEC. — ONLINE EVENT.

The Future of Europe and the 

Strategic Compass: Implications for 

the EU’s Security and Defence Policy

17 DEC. — ONLINE EVENT.

The Budget, Recovery Fund and 

Implications for the Future of EU 

Decision Making
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FLAGSHIP EVENTS

Economic Ideas Forum
Brussels 2020

Welcome 

Mikuláš Dzurinda, President of the Martens Centre  
and former Prime Minister of Slovakia 

Europe’s Green Deal in Times of 
COVID-19: A Road Map for Global 
Sustainability

Maria Spyraki, MEP, EPP Group 

Jyrki Katainen, Former Prime Minister of Finland and 

VP of EU Commission, Member of the Martens Centre 

Honorary Board 

Telmo Baltazar, Principal Adviser, DG COMM, European 

Commission 

Mark Lange, Senior Director, EU Institutional Relations, 

Microsoft

Moderator    

Dimitar Lilkov, Research Officer, Martens Centre

The Transition of Global Trade: 
Finding a New Balance between 
Openness and Protection

Michael Hager, Head of Cabinet of European 

Commissioner for Trade Dombrovskis 

Iuliu Winkler, MEP, EPP Group, Vice-Chair of the 

Committee on International Trade (INTA) 

Jake Jennings, Vice President for Global Trade, AT&T 

Anu Bradford, Henry L. Moses Professor of Law and 

International Organization at Columbia Law School

Moderator     

Tomi Huhtanen, Executive Director, Martens Centre 

P
A

N
E

L
 1

P
A

N
E

L
 2

2
7

 O
C

T
.

As one of the Martens Centre’s flagship events, we had to do something 
special for the Economic Ideas Forum’s eleventh edition, despite the 

pandemic. We delivered by organising a hybrid event bringing together 

moderators and the Martens Centre team in the studio, and our speakers 

online. This novel format included live polls to involve the audience in the 

conversation, even though they were at home.
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 4Can Digital make Europe Great 

Again? Turning the Single Market 
Into a Global Technology Hub

Pablo Arias Echeverría, MEP, EPP Rapporteur of the 

Internal Market and Consumer Protection (IMCO) Report 

on the Digital Services Act (DSA) 

Michael Pantelides, Policy Assistant, DG Connect, 

European Commission 

Konstantinos Kyranakis, MP New Democracy, Greece 

David Wheeldon, Group Director of Policy and Public 

Affairs, Sky 

Michał Boni, former MEP, EPP Group; Senior Research 

Associate, Martens Centre

Moderator    

Anna van Oeveren, Communications and Press Officer, 
Martens Centre

The Age of Artificial Intelligence 
and Disruptive Technologies: 
Reimagining Regulation and Society

Eva Maydell, MEP, EPP Group 

Alexander Stubb, former Prime Minister of Finland, 

Director of the School of Transnational Governance at the 

EUI in Florence 

Joanna Bryson, Professor of Ethics and Technology, Hertie 

School of Governance 

Žiga Turk, Professor, University of Ljubljana, Academic 

Council Member, Martens Centre 

Daniel Schönberger, Head of Legal Switzerland & Austria, 

Google

Moderator     

Roland Freudenstein, Policy Director, Martens Centre

Concluding Remarks

Antonio López-Istúriz White, Martens Centre  

Secretary Treasurer and Secretary General of the  

European People’s Party

The Economic Ideas Forum 2020 was presented by  

Anna Nalyvayko, Project Officer at the Martens Centre.

18
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15 JUL. - 17 JUL.

FLAGSHIP EVENTS

10th Transatlantic 
Think Tank Conference

State of the Unions

Antonio López-Istúriz White, Secretary General, EPP 

Mikuláš Dzurinda, President, Martens Centre  

Joel Scanlon, Vice President of Studies, Hudson 

Institute

Moderator     

Jan Surotchak, Senior Director for Transatlantic 

Strategy, International Republican Institute

The future of the global economy

Danuta Maria Hübner, Member of European 

Parliament, European Parliamentary Committee on 

International Trade  

Kevin Hassett, former Senior Advisor and Chairman 

of the Council of Economic Advisors in the Trump 

Administration  

Tom Duesterberg, Senior Fellow, Hudson Institute

Moderator    

Tomi Huhtanen, Executive Director, Martens Centre
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Although we didn’t know what to expect from the first online Transatlantic 
Think Tank Conference, it proved an invaluable opportunity to take stock 

of the impressions and expectations on either side of the Atlantic in the 

build-up to the US presidential election in November. The discussion also 

covered aspects of trade, economics, and geopolitics, providing a com-

plete TTTC experience. 

The international balance of power

Andrius Kubilius, Member of European Parliament, 

Chair of the Delegation to the Euronest Parliamentary 

Assembly, Martens Centre Honorary Board Member  

Roland Freudenstein, Policy Director, Martens Centre 

Michael Doran, Senior Fellow, Hudson Institute

Moderator    

Peter Rough, Senior Fellow, Hudson Institute

20
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In 2020 the Martens Centre continued to 

strengthen its network of like-minded or-

ganisations, which now includes 34 member 

foundations and 17 official partners from 
all over Europe and beyond. In cooperation 

with many of its member foundations and 

partners, the Martens Centre adapted to this 

year’s unique circumstances and organised 

over 50 successful events, both digitally and 

across the continent and beyond. 2020 also 

saw the publication of a large number of 

common publications.

23
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NET@WORK

EVENT AIMS

The 5th edition of NET@WORK took place on 25 and 26 November in an 

online format. The event has become the largest public platform of European 

centre-right think-tanks gathering to debate and advocate EU policies. We 

joined forces with our partners of the Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung (KAS Europe-

an Office) Germany, Political Academy of the Austrian People’s Party (PolAk) 
Austria, and Hanns-Seidel-Stiftung (HSS Brussels Liaison Office) Germany. 

 

To promote and 

increase the coop-

eration inside our or-

ganisation’s network 

of political foundations 

and like-minded think 

tanks.

 — To advocate  

centre-right political 

content.

—To harmonise and find 
common ground for 

discussion.

—To bring national 

priority subjects to 

Brussels and discuss 

them at EU level.

—

2
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Opening Remarks  

Mikuláš Dzurinda, President, Martens Centre

Current Challenges to Religious 
Freedom    
Anton Tunega Foundation (Slovakia)

Heiner Bielefeldt, Prof. Dr. Dr. H.c., University of  

Erlangen-Nürnberg 

Ján Figel’, Ing. PhD. Dr.h.c. mult., Anton Tunega Foundation 

Rebecca Shah, Prof. Dr., Baylor University

Moderator 

Miriam Lexmann, MEP, EPP, Member of DEPA

Staying Subsidiary, Getting Stronger 
Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung (Germany), Political 

Academy of the Austrian People’s Party 

(Austria)

Elmar Brok, former MEP, EPP, Member of the National 

Board of CDU 

Franz Schausberger, former Governor of Salzburg, 

Member, CoR 

Ingrid Steiner-Gashi, Brussels Correspondent, Kurier 

Moderator 

Tomi Huhtanen, Executive Director, Martens Centre

Opening Remarks  

Dr. Hardy Ostry, Head, KAS European Office  

The Geopolitical Challenges of the 
Eastern Mediterranean and the EU – 
Turkey Relations    
Glafkos Clerides Institute (Cyprus)

Paolo Alli, former President of the NATO Parliamentary 

Assembly 

Dora Bakoyannis, Member of the Greek Parliament, former 

Minister of Foreign Affairs, Greece 

Ioannis Kasoulides, President, GCI, Former Minister of 

Foreign Affairs, Cyprus

Moderator 

Michalis Sophocleous, Member of the Cypriot Parliament, 

Executive Director, GCI

Digital Transformation as a 
Geopolitical Challenge for Europe 
Konstantinos Karamanlis Institute for Democracy 

(Greece) 

Leonidas Christopoulos, Secretary General of Digital 

Governance and Simplification of Procedures, Ministry of 
Digital Governance of Greece  

Ray Pinto, Director for Digital Transformation, 

DIGITALEUROPE  

Axel Voss, MEP, EPP , Member of AIDA Special Committee 

Moderator 

Panagiotis Kakolyris, Head of International Affairs, KKI

New European Pact on Migration: 
Overcoming the Stall?  
Hanns-Seidel-Stiftung (Germany), Luigi Sturzo 

Institute (Italy)

Luigi Estero, General Directorate for the EU, Italian Ministry 

of Foreign Affairs 

Stephan Mayer, Parliamentary State Secretary to the 

German Federal Minister of the Interior, Building and 

Community 

Roberta Metsola, MEP, EPP, Vice-President, EP

Moderator 

Loredana Teodorescu, Head of EU and International Affairs, 
ILS

Closing Remarks   
Markus Ferber, MEP, EPP, Chair, HSS, EPP Group 

Coordinator in the Committee on Economic and 

Monetary Affairs, EP

A Europe that Protects Its Heritage 
De Gasperi Foundation (Italy)

François-Xavier Bellamy, MEP, EPP, Substitute Member  

of CULT Committee 

Federico Ottavio Reho, Research Officer and Strategic 
Coordinator, Martens Centre

Moderator 

Luigi Crema, Professor of International Law, University  

of Milan, Member of the Scientific

The Art of the Green Deal 
CDA Research Institute (The Netherlands)

Eva Palacková, Senior Political Adviser, EPP 

Hans von Storch, Researcher, Institute of Coastal 

Research, Helmholtz-Zentrum Geesthacht

Moderator 

Arjen Siegmann, Associate Professor of Finance,  

Vrije Universitet of Amsterdam and Economist,  

CDA Research Institute

The Future of EU Enlargement: a 
New Momentum for the Western 
Balkans 
Freedom and Democracy Foundation (Albania)

Vladimír Bilčík, MEP, EPP, Chair, D-ME Delegation 

Jovana Marović, Executive Director, Politikon Network 

Genc Pollo, Former MP and Head of Parliamentary 

Commission for EU Affairs of Albania

Moderator 

Patrick Voller, Secretary of External Relations, EPP

Closing Remarks   
Bettina Rausch, President, POLAK
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27-28 AUG., ONLINE CONFERENCE  — 

WMCES/KAS PRAGUE 

GLOBSEC Security Forum 

2020-Digital Stage

27 AUG., PRAGUE — WMCES/IKDP 

European Green Way

30 AUG., PUBLIC CONFERENCE, 

ANKARAN — WMCES/INAK 

Demographic Changes in 

Slovenia and Europe

13-15 OCT., ONLINE SEMINAR — WMCES/KAS SKOPJE 

Society and Religion: Ethnic Groups, 

Identity and Nationalism

14-19 OCT., ONLINE CONFERENCE — WMCES/POLAK 

Empowering Civil Society in the Name of 

Subsidiarity (Austria Talks)

29 OCT., HYBRID CONFERENCE  

IN SKOPJE — WMCES/KAS SKOPJE 

Building Bridges Towards a Common 

Future: The Western Balkans on the Path 

Towards the European Union

29 OCT., 05 NOV. AND 12 NOV., ONLINE EVENT  —  

WMCES/IKDP 

The Euro and Czech Republic

OCT., ONLINE CONFERENCE  —  

WMCES/BFPE 

Belgrade Security Forum 2020

OCT.-NOV., SERIES OF ONLINE  

PANEL DISCUSSIONS  — WMCES/POLAK 

Promoting Digital Solutions  

for Inclusion

01 DEC., HYBRID EVENT — WMCES/KAS 

BULGARIA 

Climate Policy and the Green Deal  

 
08 DEC., PUBLIC EVENT — WMCES/HSS 

The Portuguese Presidency  

of the EU 

 
15 DEC., ONLINE CONFERENCE — WMCES/

NAT/KASE 

Next Generation EU: 

Transformation Challenges 

for Slovakia – Hospitality and 

Recreation Sector 

 
19 DEC., HYBRID EVENT — WMCES/KKA 

Debate Club 

 
DEC., ONLINE SEMINARS — WMCES/POLAK 

How Europe Works 2020 

 

03-06 NOV.., ONLINE SEMINAR — 

WMCES/KAS SKOPJE 

We Act Together:  

Digital Community 

 
06-08 NOV., HYBRID EVENT — 

WMCES/EAD 

Youth Dialogue 

 
06 NOV., ONLINE & PHYSICAL 

EVENT — WMCES/POLAK 

24th European Forum 

 
11-13 NOV., ONLINE CONFERENCE 

— WMCES/EUROPEAN VALUES 

Stratcom Summit 

 
17-18 NOV., ONLINE CONFERENCE 

— WMCES/CASIMIR PULASKI 

Warsaw Security Forum 

 
18 NOV., PUBLIC EVENT IN 

BRUSSELS — WMCES/AJKC 

Demographic Trends  

in Europe

23 NOV., ONLINE EVENT,  

WMCES/TOPAZ  

Removing Barriers, 

Promoting Responsibility 

 

JUL.-SEP., ONLINE TRAINING  — 

WMCES/KAS BELARUS 

Educate Yourself on EU

SEP.-OCT., ONLINE SEMINARS  — 

WMCES/KAS SKOPJE 

Cathedra Adenauer

29 SEP., HYBRID EVENT  — WMCES/

TOPAZ 

The (post-)Covid Era:  

The Middle Class in Focus

 PUBLICATION 

SEP. — WMCES/HSS/TOPAZ 

The (Post)Covid Era:  

The Middle Class in Focus 
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21 JAN., CONFERENCE — 

WMCES/HSS 

Croatia before the 

Western Balkans: 

Stability as a key factor 

for the development of 

the region

07 MAR., CONFERENCE — 

WMCES/PRO PATRIA 

Anniversary of the 

Congress of Estonia

21-23 FEB., ONLINE SEMINAR, 

SEMINAR — WMCES/BFPE 

Economic and Social 

Challenges in Serbia by 

2030 - Serbia’s European 

Perspective

09 APR., ONLINE CONFERENCE 

— WMCES/KKID 

Migration and 

Geopolitical Challenges 

for Europe in the Eastern 

Mediterranean

15 JUN.-06 JUL., ONLINE EVENTS 

— WMCES/KKA 

Politics 3.0

JUN.-OCT., ONLINE SEMINAR — 

WMCES/KAS BELARUS 

KAS/MC Discussion Club

26 NOV.-02 DEC., ONLINE 

SEMINAR — WMCES/KAS SKOPJE 

EU Security and Migration 

Policy – Future Prospects 

and Challenges for the 

Region and Europe 

 
27-28 NOV., ONLINE 

CONFERENCE — WMCES/FDG 

School of Politics 

 
30 NOV., ONLINE SEMINAR — 

WMCES/KOMPASSI THINK TANK 

Africa and Europe –  

Our Common Future 

 
 PUBLICATION 

NOV. — WMCES/TOPAZ 

Removing Barriers, 

Promoting Responsibility 

 
PUBLICATION 

NOV.-DEC. — WMCES/POLAK 

The Strategic Role  

of External Actors in the 

Western Balkans

 PUBLICATION 

DEC. — WMCES/KAS BELARUS  

The Political Turmoil in Belarus: 

Current Realities  

and Foreseeable Prospects 

 
 PUBLICATION 

DEC. — ‘WMCES/KAS SKOPJE  

Water Management of cross-

border waterbodies

  PUBLICATION 

DEC. — WMCES/INAK 

Demographic Changes  

in Slovenia and Europe

  PUBLICATION 

DEC. — WMCES/POLAK 

Compilation of Insights  

on Civil Society 2020

  PUBLICATION 

DEC. — WMCES/FDG 

Beyond Resentment

  PUBLICATION 

DEC. — WMCES/TOIVO THINK TANK 

Circular Economy

  PUBLICATION 

DEC. — WMCES/CDA-WI 

Climate of the Middle

  PUBLICATION 

DEC. — WMCES/KAS SKOPJE 

Youth Policies in the Western 

Balkans and the EU

27
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! Wilfried Martens Centre for European Studies

"  @MartensCentre

#  Martens Centre

$  Wilfried Martens Centre for European Studies

%  Martens Centre

&  MartensCentre
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https://fb.me/martenscentre
https://twitter.com/MartensCentre
https://www.youtube.com/user/CESThinkingEurope
https://www.linkedin.com/company-beta/391311/
https://www.instagram.com/martenscentre/
https://www.soundcloud.com/martenscentre/
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We function as a pan-European platform both for our 

member foundations and for think tanks and experts from 

all over Europe that share our values and those of our 

political family. 

Working closely with our national partners allows us to 

bring the European debate closer to those to whom it 

matters most: the European public. Some of the formats 

we used to achieve this in 2020 were:

Our Formats
OUTREACH

 —  Brexitometer

 —  The Week in 7 Questions

 —  Back2EU

 —  Thinking Europe, 
      Our Common House

 —  Vital Questions

 —  Video teasers

 —  Podcast Series

This is our new video format in which Roland 

Freudenstein, our Policy Director, interviews a variety of 

guests. We spoke with MEPs, activists, academics, and 

politicians from around the world, aiming to inform our 

viewers about the important developments of the week.

It was a short video format during the summer, created 

to highlight the work that our Member Foundations 

were doing around Europe. It was a way to bring the 

conversation back to the rest of Europe, after much 

attention had been paid to Brussels and the EU’s 

response to the COVID-19 outbreak.

When lockdowns were first imposed across the 
continent, the Martens Centre recognised the gravity of 

the situation and temporarily shifted its research towards 

the topic, and developed a year-long Communications 

strategy to go with it. Using the #StayHomeStayInformed 

and later the #StaySafeStayInformed, we aimed to help 

guide our readers through the unprecedented crisis that 

was the COVID pandemic, and shed some light on its 

implications for Europe as a whole.

It is a new and innovative short interview format, where 

we bring together key actors of certain spheres, such 

as MEPs in Brussels or freedom fighters in Belarus, to 
answer specific questions and offer their unique insights 
on the matters at hand.

They were created this year to better promote our 

research; our researchers would deliver concise 

explanations as to the content of their recent 

publications, and the reasons why they make an 

important read.

The Martens Centre produces three podcast series: 

Europe Out Loud by Federico Ottavio Reho, discussing 

the key issues facing Europe; Defence Dialogues 

by Niklas Novaky, discussing European defence and 

security policy; and Brussels Bytes by Dimitar Lilkov, 

discussing all things digital in Europe.

In September 2018, Europe Out Loud won a Digital 

Communication Award as the Best Digital Channel of 

the year.

This is a series of entertaining and informative 

interviews with centre-right politicians aiming to 

present their perspectives and ideas on the European 

common project and its future. This interview series has 

been published since January 2017. Ultimately, it aims 

to reveal the everyday and down-to-earth side of the EU 

and national policymakers. 

This year, we featured Donald Tusk, EPP President and 

former President of the European Council.

Starring Angelos Chryssogelos, the Brexitometer 

focused this year on providing frequent updates on the 

important and often uncertain negotiations surrounding 

Brexit, and explaining their implications.

 —  I say Europe, you say…?
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Martens Centre 
New Website

Top 10 website 
visiting countries

1. Belgium

2. United States 

3. France 

4. United Kingdom

5. Germany

6. India

7. Italy

8. Netherlands

9. Poland

10. Canada

26,126

24,502

23,790

8,414

6,749

5,582

4,780

3,681

2,555

2,454

OUTREACH

Website visitor trends

In 2020, the Martens Centre
website had a total of 165,295
visits. 

This represents a 7.75% increase in visits from last year.

Visit us at www.martenscentre.eu

32

In late 2020, the Martens Centre launched a brand-new website! Fully mobile 

and tablet responsive, it features a sleek interface, offering access to all of our 
important content right form the homepage. We also stream events directly on 

the website, so you no longer need a Facebook account to follow our high-

level events. However, the most interesting new feature by far was the spider 

network, which directly connects events with the publication relevant to them, 

and displays all of an author’s content directly on their profile. You can also 
browse our work on a specific topic by using the tag feature!
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Publicity

In 2020, several Martens Centre 

experts were invited to be interviewed 

and comment on current events.

Press mentions: 

Social media 
and Press

OUTREACH

Social media FACEBOOK

!

TWITTER

"

LINKED IN

$

INSTAGRAM

%

31,471

4,078
1,079

53,999 
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The Wilfried Martens Centre for European 

Studies (formerly the Centre for European  

Studies) was established in 2007 as the political 

foundation and official think tank of the EPP. 

lt embodies a pan-European mindset based 

on centre–right, Christian Democrat, con-

servative and like-minded political values and 

research. It serves as a framework for na-

tional political foundations linked to member 

parties of the EPP. 

The Martens Centre helps prepare EPP pro-

grammes and policy documents. It organises 

seminars and training on EU policies and 

on the process of European integration. 

The Centre also contributes to formulating 

EU and national public policies. It produces 

research papers and books, policy briefs and 

the twice-yearly European View journal. Its 

research activities are divided into six clus-

ters: party structures and EU institutions, eco-

nomic and social policies, EU foreign policy, 

environment and energy, values and religion, 

and new societal challenges. Through its pa-

pers, publication launches, conferences and 

online activities, the Martens Centre offers a 
platform for discussion among experts, politi-

cians, policymakers and the European public. 

At the beginning of 2014, the Centre was 

renamed in honour of its late president and 

founder, Wilfried Martens, the EPP’s long-

standing president and a former prime minis-

ter of Belgium.
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Executive Board
This board is composed of a maximum of eight members, including the President and the 

Secretary Treasurer, all of whom are elected by the General Assembly of the Centre. Its roles 

range from drafting the annual programme based on agreed research priorities and ensuring 

the legal representation and financial supervision of the activities of the Centre, to steering 
the expansion of the Centre’s network of member organisations.

ABOUT US

PRESIDENT

Mikuláš Dzurinda

SECRETARY TREASURER

Antonio López-Istúriz White

Joseph Daul

Peter Egardt Arjen Siegmann Angelino Alfano

Roberta Metsola Hans-Gert Pöttering

Honorary Board
The Honorary Board aims to reinforce the expertise of the Centre, not 

only for enhancing the think-tank’s expert profile, but also in order to 
boost its intellectual capacity, enabling our experts to address the 

EU’s current and future challenges. The members of the board are 

all former prime ministers or former heads of EU institutions belong-

ing to the EPP family, with a successful track record of country and 

institutional reforms.

ABOUT US

Lawrence Gonzi

Jan Krzysztof Bielecki

Mikuláš Dzurinda

Herman Van Rompuy

Jyrki Katainen 

Carl Bildt

José María Aznar

Antonis SamarasAndrius Kubilius

John Bruton

Jan Peter Balkenende

Wolfgang Schüssel

Jacques Santer
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Academic Council
To increase the academic scope of the Martens Centre and to ensure its re-

search, studies and activities meet the highest scholarly standards, the Executive 

Board nominates esteemed academics and researchers as members of the Aca-

demic Council. The role of the Council includes enhancing the Centre’s standing 

and visibility in the academic sphere and contributing expertise, advice and ideas 

to ensure that the Centre always pursues cutting-edge research. The Academic 

Council also proposes new and innovative projects and implements the highest 

standard of peer review.

ABOUT US

Jos J. A. M. van Gennip

Miet Smet

John Bruton

Martti Häikiö

Bruno Aguilera-Barchet Olof Ehrenkrona

Giovanni MaddalenaMart Laar 

Žiga Turk Lucie TungulAntonis Klapsis

41

Individual Members
Individual members are politically like-minded, senior-level profes-

sionals active in European politics, European institutions and related 

organisations. They participate in meetings of the General Assembly 

and offer their perspective on the overall strategy and goals of the 
Martens Centre and on how to attain them.

Timothy Beyer Helm

Jacob Lund Nielsen

Charles-Ferdinand Nothomb

Nicolas Pascual De La Parte

Kostas Sasmatzoglou

Filippo Terruso

Antti Timonen

Marianne Thyssen

In 2020 our individual members were:

ABOUT US

Werner Fasslabend

CHAIRMAN
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Research and Senior 
Research Associates

Research associates and senior research associates are 

politically like-minded academics who contribute re-

search papers, short analyses and blogs, and give advice 

on current affairs.

Michael Benhamou Edward Hunter Christie

Jolyon Howorth

SENIOR

Jamie Shea

SENIOR

Bruno Maçães

SENIOR

Constantine Arvanitopoulos

SENIOR

Michał Boni
SENIOR

SENIOR

Rainer Münz

SENIOR

ABOUT US

Lars Jonung

Hans Geeroms Florian HartlebLuigi Crema
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Tommaso Virgili

Michael O’Neill

Michael Wohlgemuth

Magnus Norell

Loredana Teodorescu

Katarina Králiková

Jürgen Matthes

Rumiana StoilovaDalibor Roháč Salome Samadashvili 

Nikolaos Tzifakis Angelos Chryssogelos

Steven Van Hecke

Giselle Bosse



4544

Staff 2020
Tomi Huhtanen

Executive Director

 Panos  
 Tasiopoulos
 Head of External  

 Cooperation and Events

Roland 
Freudenstein
Policy Director 

DimitarLilkov
Research Officer

Gavin  
Synnott
Projects Officer

Margherita 
Movarelli
Head of Communications  

and Marketing

Djamel Kitouni
IT Administrator

Irina Roventa
Financial & EU Grants Manager

Viktoria  
Jancosekova

Manager of the  

President’s Office

Federico 
Ottavio Reho
Strategic Coordinator  

and Research Officer

Vít Novotný
Senior Research Officer

Anna van  
Oeveren

Communications and  

Press Officer

Eoin Drea
Senior Research Officer

Niklas  
Nováky

Research Officer

ABOUT US

Katerina 
Jakimovska

Event Officer

Álvaro de 
la Cruz

Communications and  

New Media Officer 

Gëzim Lezha
Visual Communications  

Assistant

Stéphanie  
Honorez

Receptionist

Sandra  
Pasarić
Project Assistant

Theo Larue
Editorial and  

Publications Assistant

Olivier Le Saëc (France) Anna Peychev (Bulgaria)

ABOUT US

Visiting Fellows
The Martens Centre takes an active interest in a wide range of politi-

cal issues with a particular emphasis on studies related to European 

policy. Therefore, each year it offers visiting-fellow positions of 6 to 
12 months to dynamic, motivated and innovative individuals with the 

appropriate academic credentials.

Anna 
Nalyvayko

Project Officer
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Internships
The Martens Centre offers internships of three to six months to 
university graduates and young researchers from Europe and the rest 

of the world. The internship programme is intended to provide the 

trainees with the opportunity to deepen their knowledge of European 

affairs and to gain close insight into the daily work of the European 
institutions in Brussels.

Sara Leming (United States)

Ștefan Josan (Romania)

Ines Calvo (Spain)

Jan Czarnocki (Poland)

Akusti Leino (Finland) 

Alessia Setti (Italy) 

Olympia Kalogianni (Greece) 

Ross Nugent (Ireland) 

Hendrik Caluwé (Belgium)

Cheyenne van der Zanden (The Netherlands)

Bartlomiej Kot (Poland)

Conor McArdle (Northern Ireland)

In 2020 our interns were:

Are you interested in an  

internship with the  

Martens Centre? 

Apply now!

Please visit 

www.martenscentre.eu/join-team 

for more information.

ABOUT US

The Martens Centre works closely with 34 

member foundations from all over Europe.

Academy for the Development of a Democratic Environment

Akkademja ghall-Izvilupp ta’ Ambjent Demokratiku (AZAD)

Anton Tunega Foundation

Nadacia Antona Tunegu (NAT)

Barankovics lstvan Foundation

Barankovics lstvan Alapitvény

Amaro da Costa Institute

lnstituto Amaro da Costa (IDL)

Association Citizens for European Development of Bulgaria

Сдружение ‘Граждани за европейско развитие на България’ (GERB)

CDA Research Institute

Wetenschappelijk lnstituut voor het CDA (WICDA)

Casa Pereira 224, Republic Street, Valletta, Malta

+356 21 220 660

roderick.agius@azad.org.mt

Šulekova 2, SK-811 03821 01 Bratislava, Slovakia

+421 908 334 344

slavomir.gregorik@tunega.sk

www.tunega.sk 

Kálvin tér 8, 1091 Budapest, Hungary

+36 1 323 0607

iroda@barankovios.hu

www.barankovics.hu 

Rua do Patrocinio, 128 — A, 1350-232 Lisbon, Portugal

+351 21 3461449

geral@idl.pt

www.idl.pt

4 Adam Mitskevich Street, Vrabnitsa, 1360 Sofia, Bulgaria
+359 88 480 0293

office@gerb-bg.org

Postbus 30453, 2500 GL The Hague, The Netherlands

+31 70 342 4874

wi@cda.nl

www.cda.nl/wi

A.
T.
E.

A.
T.
E.

W.

A.
T.
E.

W.

A.
T.
E.

W.

A.
T.
E.

A.
T.
E.

W.

Member Foundations
ABOUT US
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CEDER Study Centre of CD&V

CEDER Studiecentrum CD&V (CEDER)

Wetstraat 89, 1040 Brussels, Belgium

+32 2 238 38 87

info@cdenv.be

www.ceder.cdenv.be

A.
T.
F.

W.

Croatian Statehood Foundation

Zaklada Hrvatskog Državnog Zavjeta (ZHDZ)

Gundulićeva ul. 21 a, 10000 Zagreb, Croatia
+3851 4354 555

+385 1 4854 439

zaklada.hdz@zg.t-com.hr srecko.prusina@zhdz.hr

www.zhdz.hr

A.
T.
F.
E.

W.

Concord and Freedom Foundation 

Fundación Concordia y Libertad (FCL)

C/Bravo Murillo 120, 1o izqda, Madrid, M, 28020, Spain

+34 91 435 0629

hmasd@hmasd.org 

www.fconcordiaylibertad.org 

A.
T.
E.

W.

Freedom and Democracy Foundation

Fondacioni për Liri dhe Demokraci (FLD)

Bulevardi Zhan Dark 11, Tirana, Albania

+355 6730 32879

akil.kraja@fld.al
www.pd.al

A.
T.
E.

W.

Dr. Jože Pučnik Institute 
Inštitut Dr. Jožeta Pučnika (IJP)

Trstenjakova 8, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

+386 1 425 3087

info.ijpucnik@gmail.com

www.institutpucnik.si 

A.
T.
E.

W.

De Gasperi Foundation

Fondazione De Gasperi (FDG)

Via del Governo Vecchio, 3, 00186  Rome, Italy

+39 06 68 33 592

Info@fondazionedegasperi.org

www.fondazionedegasperi.org

A.
T.
E.
F.

Foundation for a Civic Hungary

Polgári Magyarországért Alapítvány (PMA)

Pauler u. 11, 1013 Budapest, Hungary

+361 391 4830

+361 391 4889

kulugy@szpma.hu 

www.szpma.hu 

A.
T.
F.
E.

W.

Francisco Sá Carneiro Institute

Instituto Francisco Sá Carneiro (IFSC)

Rua Ricardo Espirito Santo, N.º 1 R/C Esquerdo, 1200-790 

Lisboa, Portugal

+351 213 952 064 

ifsc@sapo.pt 

https://institutosacarneiro.pt 

A.

T.
E.

W.

Glafkos Clerides Institute

Ινστιτούτο Ευρωδημοκρατίας Γλαύκος Κληρίδης (EGC)

25 Pindarou Street, PO Box 25305, 1308 Nicosia, Cyprus

+357 22 883 115 | F. +357 22 752 751

info@clerides.org 

www.clerides.org

A.
T.
E.

W.

Institute Dr. Janez Evangelist Krek

Inštitut Dr. Janeza Evangelista Kreka (IJEK)

Institute for Popular Studies

Institutul de Studii Populare (ISP)

Jarl Hjalmarson Foundation

Jarl Hjalmarson Stiftelsen (JHS)

Institute for Christian Democratic Politics

Institut pro Křesťansko-Demokratickou Politiku (IKDP)

Konrad Adenauer Foundation

Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung (KAS)

Dvorakova ulica 11a, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

+386 1 241 66 68

info@ijek.si

www.ijek.si

Aleea Modrogan nr. 1, Sector 1, 011825, Bucharest, Romania

+40 722 566 223

contact@ispromania.ro

www.ispromania.ro

Stora Nygatan 30, Box 2080, 10312 Stockholm, Sweden

+46 8 676 8000

hjaImarsonstifteIsen@moderat.se

www.hjalmarsonfoundation.se

Karlovo náměstí 317/5, 120 00 Prague, Czechia
+420 731 603 844

jan.smidek@ikdp.cz

www.ikdp.cz

Klingelhöferstrasse 23,107S5 Berlin, Germany

+49 30 269 960

zentrale-berIin@kas.de

www.kas.de

A.
T.
E.

W.

A.
T.
E.

W.

A.
T.
E.

W.

A.
T.
E.

W.

A.
T.
E.

W.

Konstantinos Karamanlis Institute for Democracy

Ινστιτούτο Δημοκρατίας Κωνσταντίνος Καραμανλής (KKID)

Kós Károly Academy Foundation

Kós Károly Akadémia (KKA)

Pireos 62, Moschato 18346, Greece.

+30 210 94 44 303

+30 210 94 44 860

info@idkaramanlis.gr

www.idkaramanIis.gr

Str. Ulciorului nr. 4, 540099 Targu Mures, Romania

+40 265 210 020

koskarolyakademia@gmaiI.com

www.koskarolyakademia.ro

A.
T.
F.
E.

W.

A.
T.
E.

W.

Hanns Seidel Foundation

Hanns Seidel Stiftung (HSS)

Lazarettstrasse 33, 80636 Munich, Germany

+49 89125 80

info@hss.de

www.hss.de

A.
T.
E.

W.

Anton Korošec Institute 

Inštitut dr. Antona Korošca (INAK)

Gospodinjska 8, 1000 Ljubljana

+386 41 764 896

info@inak.si 

www.inak.si

A.
T.
E.

W.

Luigi Sturzo Institute

Istituto Luigi Sturzo (ILS)

Matthias Bel Institute

Inštitút Mateja Bela – Bél Mátyás Intézet (IMB–BMI)

Via delle Coppelle 35, 00186 Rome, Italy

+39 06 684 04 21

infopoint@sturzo.it

www.sturzo.it

Trnavská cesta 37, 831 04 Bratislava, Slovakia

institutmatejabela@gmail.com belmatyasintezet@gmail.com 

www.imb-bmi.org

A.
T.
E.

W.

A.
E.

W.
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New Initiatives Centre

Centar za nove inicijative / Центар за нове иницијативе (CNI)

Olimpijska 35, 71000 Sarajevo, BA - Bosnia and Herzegovina

info@cni.ba

A.
E.

Political Academy of the Austrian People’s Party

Politische Akademie der ÖVP (PolAk)

Państwo Prawa Foundation
Fundacja ‘Państwo Prawa’ (FPP)

Pro Patria Institute

Pro Patria Instituut

Tivoligasse 73, 11 20 Vienna, Austria

+43 1 814 200

akademie@poIitische-akademie.at

www.politische-akademie.at

ul.Flory 9 lok. 5B00-586 Warsaw, Poland

+48 22 280 92 91

kontakt@panstwoprawa.eu

www.panstwoprawa.eu

Kivisilla 4-9,10145 Tallinn, Estonia

+372 773 42 01

+372 773 42 07

kaja.vill||em@ir|l.ee 

www.propatria-instituut.ee

A.
T.
E.

W.

A.
T.
F.
E.

W.

A.
T.
E.

W.

Toivo Think Tank

Ajatuspaja Toivo TOPAZ

TOPAZ
Kansakoulukuja 3 A, 3krs, 00100 Helsinki, Finland

+358 500 442 761

antti.vesala@toivoajatuspaja.fi
www.toivoajatuspaja.fi

Újezd 450/40, 11800 Praha 1, Czechia

+420 725 001 312

into@tnp-az.eu

www.top-az.eu

A.
T.
E.

W.

A.
T.
E.

W.

Antall József Knowledge 

Centre, Hungary

Foundation for Social 

Research and Analysis, 

Spain

Kompassi, Finland

Robert Schuman  

Foundation, France 

The Middle East  

Institute for Research 

and Strategic Studies, 

Lebanon

Belgrade Fund for Politi-

cal Excellence, Serbia

GLOBSEC, Slovakia 

Liberal Society, Romania

Robert Schuman  

Institute, Hungary

Think Young, Belgium

European Academy for 

Democracy, Czechia

International Republican 

Institute, United States

Maison du Futur,  

Lebanon

Sofia Security Forum, 
Bulgaria

European Values, 

Czechia

Jean Monnet European 

Center of Excellence, 

Greece

Platform for Sustainable 

Growth, Portugal

Partner Members
ABOUT US

Collins Institute 

c/o Upper Mount Street, Dublin 2, Ireland

+35316198450

info@collinsinstitute.ie

www.collinsinstitute.ie

A.
T.
E.

W.

Centre for Economic and Social Policy Studies

Centre d’Etudes Politiques Economiques et Sociales (CEPESS)

Rue des Deux Églises 41, Brussels 1000, Belgium

+3222380143

info@cepess.be

www.cepess.be

A.
T.
E.

W.
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